SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

3153.

TÓBI LUCA

Krónikus betegségek gyermekkori prevenciója című program

Programvezető: Dr. Szabó Attila, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Cseh Áron, egyetemi adjunktus

THE ROLE OF TRANSITION IN THE CARE OF PEDIATRIC-ONSET INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE PATIENTS

Ph.D. Thesis

Dr. Luca Tóbi

Doctoral School of Károly Rácz Clinical Medicine Semmelweis University





Supervisor: Áron Cseh, MD, Ph.D. Official Reviewers: Petra Golovics, MD, Ph.D. Árpád Patai, MD, Ph.D.

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: András Szabó, Prof., D.Sc. Members of the Complex Examination Committee: Tibor Ertl, Prof., D.Sc. András Tislér, MD, Ph.D.

Budapest, 2025

Table of Contents

Table of Conter	1ts	2
List of Abbrevia	ations	5
1. Introduction		7
1.1. INFLAM	IMATORY BOWEL DISEASE	7
1.1.1.	History and definition	7
1.1.2.	Epidemiology	7
1.1.3.	Pathogenesis and risk factors	9
1.1.4.	Differences between pediatric- and adult-onset IBD	10
1.1.5.	Diagnosis and classification of IBD subtypes	11
1.1.6.	Activity indexes	12
1.1.7.	Extraintestinal manifestations and complications	13
1.1.8.	Treatment	14
1.1.9.	Prognosis, mortality	16
1.2. TRANSI	TION AND TRANSFER	17
Detail	's of a transitional program	19
1.2.1.	Goals of transition	20
1.2.2.	Model of a transitional program	21
1.2.3.	Transition readiness: education and skills	21
1.2.4.	Way of transfer	24
1.2.5.	Timing of transfer	25
1.2.6.	Special considerations - Possible barrier factors	27

2. Obje	ctives	
3. Meth	nods	
3.1.	Study period and data collection	
3.2.	Inclusion and exclusion process	
3.3.	Study design	
3.4.	Statistical analysis	
3.5.	Applied definitions and scores	
3.6.	Ethical considerations	
4. Resu	lts	
4.1.	Main characteristics	
4.2.	Mentor program	
4.3.	Transition and self-transfer to adult care	
4.4.	Lost-to-follow-up patients, discontinuing medical care	40
4.5.	Disease activity	43
4.7.	Healthcare providers and visits	47
4.8.	Hospitalizations and surgical interventions	48
	Hospitalizations	
	Surgical interventions	48
4.9.	Extraintestinal manifestations	
4.10.	IBD-related complications	
	Malignancies	51
4.11.	Anthropometry	

4.12. Medical and nutritional treatments	53
Side effects	55
4.13. Mortality	55
5. Discussion	56
Strength and limitations	63
6. Conclusions	64
7. Summary	65
8. References	66
9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	90
9.1. Publications related to the thesis	90
9.2. Publications not related to the thesis	91
10. Acknowledgments	92

List of Abbreviations

ASCA	Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae Antibodies			
AZA	azathioprine			
BMI	Body Mass Index			
CD	Crohn's Disease; Morbus Crohn			
CDAI	Crohn's disease activity index			
CDED	Crohn's disease exclusion diet			
CI	confidence interval			
ECCO	European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation			
EEN	exclusive enteral nutrition			
E.G.	exempli gratia			
EIC	extraintestinal complication			
EIM	extraintestinal manifestation			
ESPGHAN	European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology,			
	Hepatology and Nutrition			
ESR	erythrocyte sedimentation rate			
HLA	human leukocyte antigen			
HR	hazard ratio			
IBD	inflammatory bowel disease			
IBD-SES	inflammatory bowel disease self-efficacy score			
IBD-U	inflammatory bowel disease unclassified			
IL	interleukin			
MTX	methotrexate			
NASPGHAN	North American Society For Pediatric Gastroenterology,			
	Hepatology and Nutrition			
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B			
NOD2	nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing			
	protein 2			
OR	odds ratio			

P-ANCA	perinuclear anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies
PC	percentile
PCDAI	pediatric Crohn's disease activity index
PDP	prevalence doubling period
PIBD	pediatric-onset inflammatory bowel disease
PUCAI	pediatric ulcerative colitis activity index
SD	standard deviation
SDS	standard deviation score
ΤΝΓ-α	tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAQ	Transmission Risk Assessment Questionnaire
UC	ulcerative colitis
USA	United States of America
VEO-IBD	very early onset inflammatory bowel disease
W	with
W/O	without

Certain sections of this Ph.D. thesis have been published in the Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology Journal, under the title "*Transition is associated with lower disease activity, fewer relapses, better medication adherence, and lower lost-to-follow-up rate as opposed to self-transfer in pediatric-onset inflammatory bowel disease patients: results of a longitudinal, follow-up, controlled observational study*", referred in the "*Bibliography of the candidate's publications - Publications related to the thesis*" section.

<u>1. Introduction</u>

1.1. INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE

1.1.1. History and definition

The 1793 book of Matthew Baillie's 'Morbid Anatomy of Some of the Most Important Parts of the Human Body' marked the first documentation of a disorder consistent with **inflammatory bowel disease** (IBD) [1]. However, it wasn't until 1859 that Samuel Wilks authored the first paper specifically naming a unique, non-infectious gastrointestinal entity [1]. Nearly three decades later, in 1888, William Hale White introduced the term **ulcerative colitis** (UC) in his case series [2]. Subsequently, numerous reports emerged documenting a similar inflammatory disease manifesting beyond the colon. The landmark in classification occurred in 1932 with Crohn et al.'s paper, which established **Crohn's disease** (CD) as a distinct entity from UC, unifying both conditions under the umbrella term of IBD [3].

IBDs are currently defined as chronic, progressive inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract, with a relapsing-remitting disease course and possible extraintestinal manifestations [4]. The primary subtypes include CD and UC, while cases where definitive differentiation between CD and UC remains uncertain, despite comprehensive diagnostic workup, are classified as **inflammatory bowel disease unclassified** (IBD-U) [5].

1.1.2. Epidemiology

Over the past 250 years, IBD emerged from sporadic cases to a global entity, impacting millions worldwide [1]. This evolution can be divided into four stages. The developing countries currently find themselves in the initial stage, 'Emergence', marked by sporadic case reports, while newly industrialised nations have advanced to the second stage, the 'Acceleration in Incidence', characterised by a steady rise in incidence over decades, but still with low prevalence [6, 7]. The Western regions of the world have progressed to the third phase, 'Compounding Prevalence', witnessing a continuous growth in the population affected by IBD [8]. The fourth stage, 'Prevalence

Equilibrium' is currently a hypothetical state, where incidence balances mortality, resulting in stabilized or even decreasing prevalence [1]. Key factors influencing this transition include industrialization, urbanization, and westernization [9].

In 1971, Omran proposed the **Epidemiological Transition Theory**, which correlates shifts in population growth with the primary drivers of mortality across various centuries [10]. IBD serves as a notable exemplification of the final phase, 'Age of **Degenerative and Human-Influenced Diseases**', characterised by the escalation of chronic conditions, where mortality is predominantly attributed to non-infectious diseases influenced by environmental factors, including nutrition and lifestyle [11, 12]. The two longest epidemiological follow-up studies conducted in England and the

United States of America (USA) align with these theories: starting around the 1940s, they exhibited a low and consistent incidence of IBD, followed by a notable increase towards the 1980s and a subsequent stabilization phase around the 2000s [13-17]. Similar trends were observed in other parts of the Western world, for instance, in Hungary, the incidence rates of CD and UC rose by 11.1% and 8.9%, respectively, from 1977 to 2001 [18].

The term Prevalence Doubling Period (PDP) is employed to assess the rate at which the prevalence of a disease increases, representing the time required for the prevalence to double within a specified region. This doubling equals an approximate 200% rise in the number of affected patients, owing to the natural population growth. In the Western world currently 0.75% of the population is affected by IBD and with the current 20- to 25-year-long PDP, it is expected to reach 1% by 2030 and 2% by 2050 [1, 15, 19, 20]. Approximately 10% of all IBD patients have a **pediatric-onset** disease (PIBD), of whom 6% are diagnosed before 6 years of age, categorized as very early onset (**VEO-IBD**), and 1% diagnosed within their first year of life (**infantile IBD**) [21-23]. Currently, the incidence of VEO-IBD stands at approximately 4.37 per 100,000, with a prevalence of 14 per 100,000 [22]. The incidence of IBD is having a peak in preschool age, with a second peak for UC between the ages of 10 and 18, and for CD during late adolescence and in young adulthood, up to 25 years of age [24-26].

1.1.3. Pathogenesis and risk factors

While the exact pathogenesis of IBD is yet unknown, based on our current knowledge it is thought to occur as a result of complex interactions between a dysregulated **immune system** and an altered **intestinal microbiome**, triggered by **environmental factors** in **genetically predisposed** individuals (**Figure 1.**) [27-32].





own figure, based on: [32, 33] (IBD - inflammatory bowel disease)

Early twin studies, demonstrating greater concordance in monogenic compared to dizygotic twins with CD provided initial evidence for the role of **genetic predisposition** in the pathogenesis of IBD (20 to 50% vs. 10%) [33, 34]. Subsequent research has

identified over 230 genetic variants associated with IBD, including mutations in genes such as HLA-DRB1 and HLA-DQB predisposing individuals to ulcerative UC, and NOD2 mutations linked to CD [35, 36]. Remarkably, in up to 90% of these identified loci, the mechanism of action involves alterations in gene expression rather than changes in the gene product [37].

In the normal mucosa, a complex and dynamic interplay between the intestinal flora and gut immune mechanisms facilitates appropriate immune responses and regulatory functions. Disruption of this delicate balance leads to defective barrier function, mucosal injury, and inflammation [38, 39]. **Dysbiosis** is a commonly seen microbial pathology in IBD, resulting in a shift from a balanced flora towards pathogenic bacteria, resulting in reduced microbiome gene diversity and bacterial richness, ultimately contributing to functional impairment [40, 41].

Based on our current knowledge, the most important **environmental factors** that can either negatively or positively influence the development of IBD are smoking and passive smoke exposure, appendectomy, diet, industrialisation, antibiotic usage, hygiene status, breastfeeding, vitamin D, gastrointestinal infections, and air pollution [29, 42]. Antibiotic usage is shown to play a bigger role in the development of IBD among the pediatric population than in adults, particularly when administered during early childhood [41, 43-45]. The so-called Western diet, with its high refined sugar, fat, and low fiber content, as well as the use of food additives and conservatives, are the most prominent nutrient risk factors in the pathogenesis of IBD [46].

1.1.4. Differences between pediatric- and adult-onset IBD

PIBD is thought to be more **complex** and **extensive** compared to the adult-onset form, often exhibiting a more **severe phenotype** and **rapid progression** [47]. Over 80% of pediatric UC patients present with extensive disease or pancolitis, a proportion significantly higher than the reported 50% among adults. Furthermore, pediatric CD patients are more prone to upper gastrointestinal involvement than adult patients [34, 48]. In a study by Vernier-Massouille et al., involving 404 pediatric-onset CD patients over a 2-year follow-up period, disease progression was observed in 31% of the

children. Complicated disease behavior was evident in 29% of patients at diagnosis, increasing to 59% by the end of the follow-up period. [49].

In pediatric populations, males have a predilection for CD, while females tend to present more often with UC. However, these gender disparities tend to equalize by the end of adolescence, with a subsequent shift towards female predominance among CD patients in adulthood [25, 26, 34].

Pediatric-onset, particularly VEO-IBD patients are more likely to have a positive **family history** of IBD compared to adult patients, due to the significant role of genetic predisposition in the initial manifestation of PIBD [50, 51].

Up to 20% of patients with VEO-IBD are reported to have a **monogenic disease**, whereas adult-onset IBD typically has a polygenic involvement [22, 52, 53]. More than 60 monogenic mutations have been identified to play a role in the development of VEO-IBD, including loss-of-function mutations in IL-10 and its receptor, as well as dysregulation in the NF- κ B pathway [54-56]. Furthermore, VEO-IBD patients tend to have **colonic involvement** with a highly heterogenous clinical presentation, resulting in 20% to 35% of initial diagnoses being categorized as IBD-U [6, 22, 52, 57-59].

1.1.5. Diagnosis and classification of IBD subtypes

The diagnosis of PIBD relies on the Porto criteria, established by the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) in 2005 and revised in 2014. PIBD is classified into UC, CD, or IBD-U, with UC further categorized into *typical* and *atypical* forms based on the phenotype present at the time of the diagnosis. The diagnostic algorithm includes oesophagogastroduodenoscopy and colonoscopy with multiple histological examinations, magnetic resonance enterography, laboratory tests (eg. complete blood count, at least two inflammatory markers, albumin, transaminases, and γ GT), and fecal examination (eg. calprotectin, stool culture) [60]. PIBD is further categorized based on the **Paris classification**, which is a pediatric modification of the Montreal classification, published by the *North American Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition* (NASPGHAN) in 2011. It examines the disease extent and severity in UC, whereas the age at the time of diagnosis, the localisation and behaviour of the disease, and growth failure in CD [61]. **Serological marker** positivity increases the likelihood of IBD in atypical cases and can help in distinguishing between CD and UC in patients with an IBD-U diagnosis. **ASCA** positivity is observed in 50% to 70% of CD, in contrast to only 10% to 15% of UC patients, and less than 5% of the general population [62, 63]. Conversely, **P-ANCA** positivity is reported in 60% to 70% of UC and just 20% to 25% of CD patients [64]. The most common **presentational symptom** in UC is bloody diarrhoea, whereas CD is more likely to present with abdominal pain, non-bloody diarrhoea, unexplained anemia, fever, weight loss, or growth retardation. The so-called "*classic triad*" of abdominal pain, diarrhoea, and weight loss occurs in only 25% of CD patients [65].

1.1.6. Activity indexes

To assess disease activity and therapeutic efficacy in IBD patients, age-appropriate, validated, and disease-subtype-specific scores are employed. For the evaluation of patients younger than 19 years of age **PCDAI** and **PUCAI** are used, from which **CDAI** and **Mayo score**, details and abbreviations can be seen in **Table 1**. [66-73].

Score	Symptoms	Physical examination	Laboratory tests / Endoscopy	Range	Significant change
PCDAI	abdominal pain, stool count, general well being	height, weight, abdominal and perirectal state, EIMs	hematocrit, ESR, albumin	0 - 100 points	12.5 points
PUCAI	activity level, abdominal pain, rectal bleeding, stool number, consistency, nocturnality	-	-	0 - 85 points	20 points
CDAI	liquid stools, abdominal pain, general well-being, use of antidiarrhoeal drugs	abdominal mass, weight	hematocrit	0 - 600 points	20 points
Mayo score	stool frequency, rectal bleeding, physicians rating of the disease activity		mucosal appearance	0 - 12 points	3 points

Table 1. Iı	nflammatory	bowel	disease	activity	scoring	systems
---------------	-------------	-------	---------	----------	---------	---------

PCDAI - pediatric Crohn's disease activity index, PUCAI - pediatric ulcerative colitis activity index, CDAI - Crohn's disease activity index, EIM - extraintestinal manifestation, ESR - erythrocyte sedimentation rate based on: [64 - 71]

1.1.7. Extraintestinal manifestations and complications

The extraintestinal symptoms of IBD can be categorized into two main groups: **extraintestinal manifestations** (EIM) or **complications** (EIC). EIMs are conditions that appear outside the gastrointestinal tract are more prevalent among IBD patients, while EICs are those caused by the loss of intestinal function or the treatment of IBD (**Figure 2.**) [74]. The appearance and activity of the EIMs may parallel the disease activity (e.g. *erythema nodosum, arthritis, episcleritis*), or may be independent (e.g. *pyoderma gangrenosum, sclerosing cholangitis*).



Figure 2. | The classification of the extraintestinal symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease *(own figure)*

The most common EIMs are **musculoskeletal** (e.g. *arthritis*), **dermatologic** (e.g. *erythema nodosum, pyoderma gangrenosum*), **hepatobiliary** (e.g. *pancreatitis, sclerosing cholangitis*), **ophthalmologic** (e.g. *uveitis, scleritis, episcleritis*) and **hematologic** (e.g. *anemia, thromboembolism*) [79]. EIMs are reported to be present at the time of diagnosis in 6% to 28% of PIBD patients, being more common than in adultonset IBD, with a possible onset of years before the appearance of gastrointestinal symptoms, particularly among non-VEO-IBD patients [49, 75-77].

The most prominent EICs among IBD patients include inadequate nutrition and growth, disturbed psychosocial well-being, fertility problems, and malignancies.

Due to chronic blood loss and inflammation, increased energy requirements, intestinal malabsorption, and frequent treatment with corticosteroids, patients with IBD are prone to **malnutrition** [78].

Growth failure is documented in 40% of CD and 10% of UC patients, with 50% of PIBD patients having a 10% lower final height than the general population [78-83].

Patients with IBD, especially those diagnosed with CD are at high risk for **osteoporosis** and **poor bone health**. This primarily stems from the direct effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from the intestines on growth plates and bone cells, exacerbated by factors such as loss of muscle strength and corticosteroid usage [34, 84].

Among the PIBD population, 25% to 40% of the patients exhibit signs of **clinical depression**, leading to lower quality of life, elevated rates of anxiety, and adverse effects on their education and medication adherence. This prevalence surpasses not only that of the general population but also of children with other chronic diseases [39, 85-91].

The **birth and fertility rates** among patients with IBD are significantly lower compared to the general population, especially following disease flare-ups and surgical interventions. Among UC patients, this decrease can be as high as 21% [92, 93].

1.1.8. Treatment

The optimal treatment approach for IBD should encompass a **biopsychosocial perspective**, addressing patients' individual *biological* (e.g. medical and physical), *psychological* (e.g. coping, resiliency, and mental health), and *social* (e.g. healthcare system, support, and resources) needs [94]. Currently, the primary goal of treatment is to achieve **deep remission**, **mucosal** and **transmural healing**. The shift from symptomatic treatment and laboratory remission was supported by studies recognising the evolution of pediatric CD to stricturing and fistulising disease phenotypes, as well as the progressing rates of colectomy among UC and IBD-U patients [38].

Surgical management

A surgical intervention is required in 9% of the pediatric CD and 8% of the pediatric UC patients within the first year following the initial diagnosis, reaching 23% and 20% after 5 years of disease duration, respectively [95-97]. As the disease progresses, up to 80% of all CD patients require surgical intervention, with 10% requiring a permanent stoma [6]. Patients with the NOD2/CARD15 genotype, fibrostenosing phenotype, or ASCA positivity have a higher risk of surgery [83]. The most common indications for emergency surgeries among IBD patients are intestinal *perforation, exsanguinating hemorrhage, complete bowel obstruction,* and *peritonitis* [73]. Despite the continuous advances in surgical techniques, IBD patients remain at a higher risk for postoperative infectious and anastomotic complications compared to the general population [98, 99].

Medical and nutritional treatments - Remission induction and maintenance therapy

Exclusive enteral nutrition (EEN) is the first-line recommendation for remission induction in pediatric CD by ESPGHAN and ECCO (*European Crohn's and Colitis Organization*) since 2014. EEN promotes mucosal healing by excluding food additives and preservatives, thus ensuring an anti-inflammatory milieu in the intestines [100-103]. **Corticosteroids** are effective in inducing remission in both CD and UC, with response rates of 60% to 80% within the first 4 weeks. However, due to their numerous and significant side effects, including *diabetes*, *cataracts*, *osteoporosis*, *hypertrichosis*, *mood swings*, *acne*, and *insomnia*, they are not recommended for maintenance therapy [104]. Furthermore, approximately 50% of PIBD patients on long-term steroid therapy become steroid-dependent and may ultimately require surgery [105].

Immunomodulators used in the treatment of IBD include **thiopurines** (e.g. **azathioprine** and **6-mercaptopurine**) and **methotrexate** [73]. They exert their effects after a build-up period of 3 to 6 months and therefore are primarily used as maintenance therapy. The main safety concerns regarding their long-term usage are *opportunistic infections, teratogenic effects,* and *malignancies* (e.g. *lymphomas, nonmelanoma skin cancers*). IBD patients treated with thiopurines face a 4-fold increased risk of malignancies, with longer therapy durations associated with higher risks [34, 106, 107].

Dose-dependent side effects include *myelotoxicity*, *hepatotoxicity*, and *allergic reactions*, whereas *pancreatitis* appears in approximately 5% of the patients through an idiosyncratic drug reaction [108, 109].

Aminosalicylates are generally well tolerated and can be used for both remission induction and maintenance therapy in patients with colitis [110]. In a prospective study, 40% of pediatric UC patients receiving aminosalicylate maintenance therapy remained in steroid-free remission during the first year after diagnosis [111].

The **biological treatment** options for PIBD patients currently include **TNF-** α **inhibitors** (e.g. *adalimumab*, *infliximab*), **integrin inhibitors** (e.g. *vedolizumab*), **IL-12** and **-23 inhibitors** (e.g. *ustekinumab*). In a follow-up study, Adler et al. found that pediatric CD patients treated with immunomodulators and anti-TNF- α therapy were 59% less likely to develop fistulizing complications compared to those receiving steroids [112]. Additionally, TNF- α agents are associated with improved linear growth in PIBD patients with growth failure [113].

1.1.9. Prognosis, mortality

A 50-year-long Swedish follow-up study, comparing nearly ten thousand PIBD patients with a matched cohort from the general population showed a 3.2-fold increased **risk of death** among the IBD population, specifically with a 4.0-fold risk among the UC, a 2.3-fold risk among CD and a 2.0-fold risk among the IBD-U patients. In the PIBD population, this risk was 4.9-fold increased. Despite ongoing improvements in therapeutic and diagnostic capabilities, the relative risk of death among PIBD patients did not decrease during the study period, spanning from 1964 to 2015 [114]. **Colon cancer** significantly contributes to this increased mortality risk. A population-based study, including more than five thousand patients, demonstrated a 2.75-fold increased risk of colon cancer among UC patients [115]. Among CD patients with colonic involvement, this risk is 1.6-fold increased compared to the general population [116]. The risk of developing colon cancer increases over time and is particularly elevated in patients with an earlier diagnosis, pancolitis, and sclerosing cholangitis [73].

1.2. TRANSITION AND TRANSFER

Ensuring an uninterrupted, comprehensive, and accessible healthcare throughout adolescence is essential in achieving the best possible disease course and outcome for PIBD patients, underscoring the significance of transition in their care [117]. Transition was first defined by Blum et al. in 1993 as a purposeful, planned movement of adolescents or young adults with chronic conditions from the pediatric to the adult healthcare system, including the gradual shift of the healthcare- and disease-related responsibilities from the caregivers and the parents to the patients [118]. In contrast, transfer refers solely to the point of handover of care between pediatric and adult healthcare-providing teams, which should be considered as a part of the transitioning process rather than the endpoint (Figure 3.) [117, 119, 120]. The Society for Adolescent *Medicine* highlights the complexity and the multiple layers of this changing process, defining transition as "a gradual, multi-dimensional and family-oriented process with a focus on the anticipated developmental stage of an individual and with the ultimate goal of transfer to adult healthcare settings by empowering patients with disease knowledge and self-management skills and by preparing healthcare providers with adequate knowledge" [121].



Figure 3. | Transition, transfer and the main characeristics of pediatric and adult care *(own figure) [IBD - inflammatory bowel disease]*

Transitional care has gained increasing attention over the past decade, especially considering the rising incidence of pediatric-onset IBD cases. The focus on transitional care began with the publication of the first position paper by NASPGHAN in 2002. Subsequently, further recommendations were issued, starting in the United States in 2011, followed by national societies such as those of Italy and the United Kingdom in 2015 [118, 122-124]. In 2017, ECCO published a topical review including 14 practice points for healthcare providers, however, similar to previous publications, it is not evidence-based and mostly relies on expert opinions, clinical experience, and literature reviews of other chronic diseases [118-120, 122, 123, 125, 126]. Despite the emerging need, based on the lack of data from primary research to guide the recommendations, there are currently **no official consensus guidelines and standardized transitional practices** regarding IBD patients.

Importance of transition

Transition is covering a vulnerable period of life, during which unaddressed medical and healthcare needs can lead to significant long-term consequences [123, 127]. The association between **inadequate transitional care** and adverse health outcomes has been extensively documented across various chronic conditions, including type 1 diabetes mellitus, congenital heart diseases, cystic fibrosis, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, and hematological disorders [128-131]. **Successful transition** in pediatric-onset diabetes patients, for instance, has been linked to improved objective measures of glycemic control, better outpatient control and engagement with screening programs, higher compliance with adult care providers, and reduced rates of hospitalization and diabetic ketoacidosis [123, 132-135]. In the absence of a structured transitional program, the risk of disengagement with healthcare increases [123]. Following solid organ transplantation, unsuccessful transition is associated with worsening compliance, increased graft loss, and higher mortality [123, 136, 137].

The currently available literature on the effects of transition in IBD is primarily comprised of single-center studies, often lacking randomization or a control group [138]. Inadequate transitional care in IBD is associated with non-adherence to

medications and non-compliance regarding visits, a restricted growth potential, and an increased risk of surgery [123, 138]. Furthermore, in a French study examining 48 PIBD patients, a structured transitional program was associated with improved patient and healthcare provider satisfaction [139].

Practices worldwide and in Hungary

The existing recommendations do not necessarily translate into practice. Reportedly, 40% to 80% of the gastroenterologists do not perform any formalised transition, although 79% of them would consider it highly important, to have transitional guidelines [119, 140]. A survey-based study from the USA revealed, that 60% of pediatric gastroenterologists were unfamiliar with the transitional recommendations of the American Academy of Pediatrics, and only 0.7% of them incorporated all of their suggestions into practice [141]. Moreover, another study involving 141 pediatric gastroenterologists found that 8.5% do not perform either transfer or transition when moving their patients to adult care, whereas an additional 15% exclusively support transfer without a transitioning period [141].

There is currently limited data available on transitional practices for PIBD patients in Hungary. Erős et al. conducted a cross-sectional survey-based study to assess transitional care in both pediatric and adult institutes, achieving a response rate of 31.7%. The yearly number of patients moved to adult care was under 20 in most centers. Transitional care was introduced between the ages of 16 and 18 in 53.8% of the institutions, with 61.5% of centers not adhering to any formalized transitional protocol. Additionally, only 46.15% of centers offered an incorporated educational program, typically initiated after the age of 16 years [142]

Details of a transitional program

The most important domains, that have to be determined regarding a transitional program are: (1) Goals of transition, (2) Model of a transitional program, (3) Transition readiness: education and skills, (4) Way of transfer, (5) Timing of transfer and (6) Special age-related considerations.

1.2.1. Goals of transition

Given the diverse perspectives of patients, parents, and healthcare providers, achieving a successful transitioning process necessitates **collaboration**, **frequent feedback**, and **open communication** from all parties involved [143, 144]. ECCO emphasizes the crucial role of harmonizing divergent attitudes toward transition to ensure its success [126, 145]. Grey et al. conducted an analysis of the perspectives of patients, their parents, and pediatric healthcare providers regarding key factors for a successful transition to adult care. Interestingly, they found the lowest level of agreement between patients and their parents (40%), while a significant agreement was observed between physicians and patients (80%) [144]. Allison et al. examined the most important domains of a successful transition from the viewpoint of the patients, parents, and healthcare providers, identifying 'independence of care' as the sole aspect unanimously recognized by all groups (**Figure 4.**) [146].



Figure 4. | Factors of a successful transition from the viewpoint of all participants *(own figure, based on: [132])*

Defining "*successful transition or transfer*" to adult care is rather challenging. ECCO suggests continuity of care after being moved to adult care as a determining factor for the success, noting several other objective outcome measures, such as endoscopic remission rates, quality of life, or reduced attempts to return to child-centered care as other possible variables to take into consideration [126].

1.2.2. Model of a transitional program

The optimal model and duration of a transitional program are yet to be established [126]. It is recommended to initiate transition planning early in adolescence, employing a personalized, step-wise approach that includes an educational program [119, 147]. While existing recommendations predominantly address the pediatric phase of transition, it is important to recognize that patients entering adult care vary significantly in knowledge, skills, and capabilities. Consequently, a well-defined posttransfer period may be necessary to address and reconcile these differences [147-150]. In a systematic review of transitional articles, focusing on the continuity of care between pediatric and adult services, four transitional models were determined based on the core principles of the different practices [151]. In the *direct model*, the primary focus is on the connection between the healthcare systems and providers, addressing the continuity of information rather than the personal needs of the patient. The *sequential* and developmental models offer greater flexibility, acknowledging evolving patient needs (sequential) and the necessity for patients to acquire essential skills prior to transition, with an emphasis on personal growth and development (developmental). The professional model is mostly advised to be used in conditions with short life expectancy,

as it focuses on the expertise of the physician side [123].

1.2.3. Transition readiness: education and skills

The crucial domains of transition readiness encompass transition-related skills, disease-specific knowledge, and health-related behavior, such as *autonomy*, *self-efficacy*, *executive functioning*, *communication skills*, and *adherence* [150]. Disease-specific knowledge includes an understanding of the diagnosis and previous medical

history, knowledge of current medications, their way of action and possible side effects, an understanding of the value and role of diagnostic procedures, familiarity with the concept of flare-ups, knowledge of how to obtain further IBD-related information, the influence of smoking, drug use, and alcohol consumption, consequences of nonadherence and issues related to sexuality and reproduction [126]. Transitional recommendations advocate for an age-appropriate, adaptable educational program to be part of a transitioning process, although a definitive template for its delivery is yet undetermined [123]. The role of patient education in the facilitation of transitional programs has already been described in other chronic conditions, such as type 1 diabetes mellitus, where enrollment in an educational program has been associated with improvements in HbA1c levels, self-management skills, disease-specific knowledge, and reduction in complications, however, no quality-of-life improvements were documented [123]. In *juvenile arthritis* patients, an age-appropriate, structured transitional program, and an incorporated disease-specific education were associated with an improvement in disease-specific quality of life and continuous improvements in the knowledge of patients and their parents [152]. Given that acquiring the necessary knowledge is unlikely to occur in a single encounter, a step-wise program is recommended. The focus of the education should align with the emotional and cognitive maturity of the patients. In a study from the USA, both PIBD patients regardless of still being in pediatric or already in adult care, and their healthcare providers chose independent illness and treatment management as the most crucial topic for discussion during the transitional program, followed by the differences between pediatric and adult *care* [141].

It has been thoroughly documented, that a high disease-specific knowledge alone is not sufficient for a successful transition, in fact, **self-efficacy** correlates better with self-management and therefore transition readiness [153]. Furthermore, self-efficacy has been positively linked in many chronic diseases to adherence to medical care, advanced coping behaviours, and better self-management skills [154]. These skills include the ability to monitor symptoms and report them to a healthcare professional, to manage medications and maintain adherence to the prescribed regime, to recognise and

effectively handle disease flare-ups, and to be able to work in partnership with healthcare providers [126]. Stollon et al. reported that PIBD patients acquire many healthcare-related skills between the ages of 12 and 14 years, but self-management skills are not mastered until after 18 years of age [155]. Currently, the only validated self-efficacy and -management scores available for IBD patients is the *IBD Self-Efficacy Scale* ('IBD-SES') [126, 156, 157].

The primary objective of transition is to ensure that patients acquire all the necessary IBD-related knowledge and skill-set, that they will require in adult care to be able to properly handle their disease [158]. This process requires a gradual decrease in the role of the parents in disease management, as well as an equal increase in self-efficacy and autonomy of the patients [1, 159, 160]. Parents should be encouraged to have confidence in their children's expanding self-management skills and to support interventions aimed at fostering independence, as these should be trusted, supported, and continued at home [126]. PIBD patients take over responsibilities regarding their disease management and treatment later than suggested, as a study reported only 35% of the patients aged 19 to 21 schedule their appointments, and only 30% contact their physician if they are experiencing problems with their disease [153]. Moreover, less than 15% of adolescents are reported to be able to take full responsibility for their IBD care, with 20% being incapable of performing basic disease-related self-management skills [161, 162]. A questionnaire-based study from the USA revelaed that among healthcare providers and PIBD patients, who were already in adult care the ability of the patients to take care of their treatment independently was noted as the most important clue for transitional readiness, while among the patients still in pediatric care the *maturity of the patients* stood on the first place [141].

Transition readiness should be **continuously evaluated** using an **interdisciplinary approach** during pediatric care and taken into consideration when planning the transfer to adult care [147]. The most commonly used validated **transitional readiness assessment tools** are the *Transmission Risk Assessment Questionnaire* ('TRAQ') and the NASPGHAN transition checklist [163]. Bensen et al. examined the utilization of validated transition readiness tools among pediatric gastroenterologists and reported a 23% rate [141, 164]. With the application of TRAQ, Gray et al. found, that only 5.6% of the patients on the verge of transfer met the benchmarks for transition readiness [165]. Currently, most patients fail to achieve the necessary knowledge and skills before transferring to adult care, resulting in some centers reporting insufficient knowledge in up to 95% of their patients upon arriving at adult care [147, 165]. Additionally, parents frequently overestimate the self-efficacy of their children, as in a recent study significant differences could be seen between the self-assessment of the patients and the answers of their parents regarding IBD-specific knowledge, self-management, medication use, and transition readiness [166].

Not only the pediatric but also the adult IBD population is shown to have inadequate knowledge about their disease, as in a survey only 21% to 23% knew that IBD has a genetic predisposition, 26% to 46% that not just the intestines can be affected, only 18% to 29% that they have an increased risk for colon cancer and just 68% to 74% that they would still have IBD if they were symptomless after 3 years [150, 167, 168]. Similarly, in a survey-based study, adult gastroenterologists reported inadequate knowledge among PIBD patients upon arriving at adult care, considering their medical history (55%) and medication regimens (69%) [169].

1.2.4. Way of transfer

The way of transfer can range from an *overlapping period* of the two health care systems, through *joint or alternating visits* to a simple *handout summary*, without combined visits. An overlapping period did not improve the success rate of the transitioning process in a Canadian study, whereas joint medical visits seemed to enable a successful transition to adult care [135, 147, 170]. Transition models incorporating a joint transitional meeting between the pediatric and adult clinics have been associated with improvements regarding relevant disease- and overall-health-related endpoints among young adults with chronic diseases, but have been sparsely reported in gastroenterology [123]. Survey-based studies reported that patients found joint-transitional visits as the best model for transition, however, only approximately 20% of the PIBD providers reported applying joint visits for transferring care [139-141].

The literature comparing specific transitional models lacks robust evidence, primarily consisting of expert opinions from single-center studies. As a result, a gold-standard transitional model has yet to be established [123]. Consequently, it is recommended that each institution select a transferring method based on its efficiency regarding available resources, geographical location, patient demographics, and existing services within both pediatric and adult care teams [25, 150]. ECCO currently supposes a joint adult-pediatric clinic, as a part of a structured transitional program to be the ideal model for transition [126].

Regardless of whether a joint meeting occurs, it is essential to provide a **handout summary** detailing the patient's disease course, treatment history, and their medical history to the adult healthcare team[126, 171]. Incomplete or missing information transfer between the healthcare providers can lead to suboptimal therapeutic decisions in adult care, consequently worsening the disease outcome and overall health of the patients [122]. In a Quebec survey, 84.7% of adult and 62.5% of pediatric gastroenterologists reported medical summaries as one of the most important transitional tools [172].

It is crucial for PIBD patients to be treated in **IBD centers** both before and after the transition, with a multidisciplinary team that has all the necessary and up-to-date diagnostic and therapeutic possibilities to ensure the best disease outcome and overall health for these patients with a presumably complicated, extensive and severe disease. The adult healthcare providing team should be aware, that the pediatric-onset patients arriving at adult care already have a complex medical and treatment history, with possible former surgeries and IBD-related complications, are prone to be resistant to therapy and their disease course is frequently complicated with growth failure and psychological distress [173, 174].

1.2.5. Timing of transfer

It is essential for the **timing of transfer** to adult care to be **flexible** and take into consideration numerous factors, such as the *chronological age* of the patient, *disease activity*, *adherence to medications*, and *overall compliance* [123]. Anticipating the

timing of the transition has been identified as one of the most crucial factors for a successful process [148, 175]. While the transfer can be targeted at a specific age or after a significant life event, relying solely on chronological age is not recommended [163]. In Europe, based on healthcare regulations, patients are typically transitioned to adult care around the age of 18, whereas in the USA, the transfer is often delayed until around the age of 25 [150]. In a survey-based study from the USA, 52% of gastroenterologists reported waiting with the transfer until their patients start their own family, 55% until they finish high school and 79% felt that the appearance of the first adult comorbidity is the appropriate trigger for transfer [150]. In the United Kingdom 42% of the adult, whereas only 29% of the pediatric gastroenterologists reported that leaving high school is a good time for transfer [119]. Furthermore, a study from Australia found significant differences between the prioritized timing of transfer among pediatric and adult gastroenterologists, with the former favoring the completion of secondary schooling and the latter relying more on caregiver-assessed readiness [176].

The transfer is usually advised to be done during **stable disease remission and psychosocial status**, as the changing process itself may potentially negatively impact disease activity. Hence, flexibility from both pediatric and adult care physicians is crucial. However, individual assessment is recommended to be done before planning the changing process, as among patients on the edge of transfer, who require great changes in their maintenance medications or a surgical intervention to acquire stable disease remission, it can be beneficial to refer them to the adult care team, allowing their future healthcare providers to monitor these changes effectively. Moreover, certain therapeutic options are exclusively available in adult care, so for patients with a complicated disease course the earlier introduction of these medications can delay more radical interventions [147, 150]. Philpott et al. suggested categorising these cases as **'crisis transfer'**, regarding patients with an uncontrollable disease or immediate surgical requirements, pregnancy, substance abuse, or in need of medications, that are only available in adult care [163].

1.2.6. Special considerations - Possible barrier factors

Both pediatric and adult care providers play a crucial role in ensuring a successful transition process by regularly assessing potential barriers and providing resources to overcome these challenges [177]. The main contributing factors to an unsuccessful transfer are reported to be the unpreparedness of the patients, great differences between the pediatric and the adult health care systems, and the special challenges of adolescence [122, 138, 150, 160]. An unsuccessful transition to adult care is associated with several adverse outcomes, including increased rates of *emergency* interventions, hospitalizations, higher surgical rates, more frequent therapy escalations, and a worse overall health disease outcome. A Canadian study including nearly three thousand PIBD patients reported a 17.5% lost-to-follow-up rate during the changing process to adult care [178]. Similarly, in British Columbia, approximately 15% to 18% of patients discontinued their medical care during the transition process [179]. It is further complicating the process, that even if the transfer is successful, the changing between the healthcare systems itself is associated with the deterioration of patient compliance and higher disease activity, with reportedly 10% of all transitioned patients requiring hospitalization or an emergency intervention during the first 6 months after being moved to adult care [138, 165, 178-181].

Adolescents, the target age group of transition, are unique patients considering several aspects. They are experiencing great *hormonal*, *psychosocial*, and *sexual changes*, additionally facing *life-altering situations* regarding starting their own adult life, including moving out from their parents, enrolling in higher education, or starting to work. These may take priority over their healthcare, resulting in higher levels of anxiety [94, 122, 143, 147, 148, 150, 182]. At the age of 18, many adolescents have not yet completed their psychological transition to adult behavior and vary greatly in their resolution of inner conflicts regarding autonomy and self-esteem [126]. Additionally, they may tend to ignore or deny their disease, defer responsibility, and struggle with processing emotions and managing role changes in their life or medical care [153, 183-185]. The most common coping strategy employed by young adults with chronic conditions is '*avoidant coping*': distracting themselves with social diversions, which

behaviour itself is associated with higher relapse rates. [186, 187]. Other adolescentspecific issues include problems with body image, self-esteem, reproductive health, peer influence and pressure, substance or alcohol usage, and smoking [147]. Surprisingly, up to 50% of PIBD patients do not receive any education on reproductive health or the effects of drugs or alcohol on their disease before transferring to adult care [188]. Several studies reported, that the unwillingness of patients and parents to change their healthcare provider due to their close relationship with their pediatric physician is one of the main transitional barriers [126, 145, 169, 189, 190]. Young adults may feel abandoned following their transfer to adult care, often resulting in regressive behavior considering their disease management [150, 174]. Collectively, these factors contribute that, **compliance and medication adherence are the lowest** among the adolescent IBD population from all age groups, with the non-compliance rate being up to 66% [191, 192].

The differences between the pediatric and the adult healthcare systems can also play a great role in the unsuccessful transferring process. In pediatric care, visits are often lengthy, patients have a passive role with low autonomy and high family dependence. On the contrary, in the adult healthcare system, the visits tend to be more business-like, requiring patients to possess a high level of disease-specific knowledge and take an active role with significant responsibility. Pediatric care is characterized by a nurturing environment with possible paternalism and a focus on family-centered care, while the adult system places a greater emphasis on patient autonomy. Upon transitioning to adult care, the medical focus shifts from ensuring adequate growth and development to addressing issues such as family planning, fertility, and cancer surveillance. The unfamiliarity and misinterpretation of these differences can lead to non-compliance and the discontinuation of medical care among IBD patients, consequently resulting in a poorer disease outcome and overall health [143, 148, 173].

2. Objectives

We aimed our research to examine three main questions:

(1) What are the determinants of a successful transitioning process?

- (2) What are the short- and long-term effects of the changing process to adult care, including the comparison between transition and self-transfer on the disease activity, course, and patient compliance?
- (3) What are the unique characteristics of PIBD patients that require special attention in adult care?

3. Methods

Our longitudinal, follow-up, controlled observational study incorporated a retrospective and a prospective data collection period, with the aim to analyse the effects of the changing period to adult care, including the comparison of a structured transitional program with self-transfer on the disease course, activity, and compliance of the patients. Furthermore, we examined the determinants of a successful transfer and the special characteristics of the PIBD patients, that require special attention in adult care. The project was carried out in the *Pediatric Center of Semmelweis University* (Budapest, Hungary), in cooperation with the *Department of Surgery, Transplantation, and Gastroenterology* and the *Department of Internal Medicine and Oncology of Semmelweis University*.

The study was performed and reported in accordance with the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines.

3.1. Study period and data collection

The study period was 20.5 years, between 01.09.2001 and 01.03.2022. We collected data from the medical systems of the participating Clinics and the *eHealth Infrastructure of Hungary*. The data was reviewed retrospectively until 2018, thenceforth prospectively. Detailed information was collected about the *patients* (date of birth, gender, race, other chronic diseases, family history of IBD), *disease* (subtype, phenotype, extent, activity and disease course, EIMs, complications), *treatments* (medical, nutritional, surgeries, hospitalizations, medication side effects), *anthropometrical data* (height, weight, BMI), *patient compliance* and *medication adherence*. The basic data about the patients were reported at the time of diagnosis, whereas data about the disease, treatments, anthropometrics, compliance, and adherence were noted both at the time of the diagnosis and continuously during the visits during the study period.

3.2. Inclusion and exclusion process

The summary of the inclusion and exclusion process can be seen in Figure 5.



Figure 5. | The inclusion and exclusion process of our study

Inclusion criteria: All 382 PIBD patients (including CD, UC, and IBD-U) treated partially or entirely in our Pediatric Center during the examination period were available for the initial inclusion process in the study.

Exclusion criteria: Due to inaccessible medical data from the study period 31 patients were excluded, resulting in 351 patients being enrolled in our research.

Transition and self-transfer: Of the included 351 patients, 152 were moved to adult care during the examination period, of whom 73 were enrolled in our transitional program, whereas 79 adolescents self-transferred to adult care and served as our control group. Every patient had the opportunity to enroll in the transitional program, but the inclusion

was not mandatory. The patients who decided against the transitional program then selftransferred, with reasons behind their decision as declining to enroll in a structured transition, a completely different timing of their transfer as suggested, or transfer to a hospital not included in our transitional program. There was no significant difference between the two groups considering either of the examined patient-, disease-, or treatment-related variables noted in the data collection section. Both self-transfer and transition were initiated in 2015. Until 2018 the transitional meetings were held irregularly, thereafter monthly.

Addressing the lost-to-follow-up patients: 18 patients discontinued their medical care during pediatric care, 16 during the changing period between the two healthcare systems, and 15 patients after being moved to adult care. As patient compliance and the determinants of a successful transferring process to adult care were among the aims of our study, the lost-to-follow-up patients were examined separately.

3.3. Study design

Our transitional program consisted of an integrated *educational (mentor) program* and a *joint transitional meeting* with a written *handout summary*.

Mentor program: From the age of twelve, patients had the opportunity to be enrolled in our age-appropriate, personalized educational program. The teaching occasions took place before their scheduled visits, to make it accessible for all patients. They could learn in a step-wise manner during these one-by-one meetings from our transitional coordinator about their disease characteristics, the most important diagnostic methods, their medications, possible complications of their disease and non-compliance, family planning, and the effects of alcohol and smoking on their disease course. Our educational program was initiated in 2018.

Last year before moving to adult care: A year before the planned transfer to adult care, we actively started to prepare all of our patients, regardless of their participation in the mentor program. We encouraged them to take more responsibility in handling their disease, we required them to take a more active role during their visits and initiated talks about the differences between the two healthcare systems and the changing process.

During this last year, the scheduled endoscopic procedures were preferably performed with the attendance of both the pediatric and the future adult care providers.

Timing of the transfer: We aimed the transfer after finishing high school, around 18 to 19 years of age, with a disease in stable remission. Special requests from the patients considering the timing of their transfer were also taken into consideration.

Joint transitional meeting, adult healthcare providers: The joint transitional meetings were held in our Pediatric Center, with the attendance of the former pediatric and the future adult care provider, the transitional coordinator, and the patient. In most cases, parents were also present, depending on the request of the patient.

A detailed *handout summary* was prepared for the meeting, which summarised the most important information about the medical history of the patient, as well as the former disease course, treatments, hospitalizations, surgeries, and diagnostic results regarding their inflammatory bowel disease.

At the end of the meeting, the date of the first adult-care visit was planned, as well as the bridging medical therapy during the changing period.

During the examination period of our study, we worked together with three adult gastroenterologist specialists, from two adult IBD Centers in Budapest, Hungary. There were both male and female adult physicians in our transition team, so we could recommend a physician with the same gender to each of the patients if requested.

3.4. Statistical analysis

The statistical tests were performed and figures were created using GraphPad Prism version 10.0.2 for macOS, GraphPad Software, Boston, Massachusetts USA. P < 0.05 was considered significant.

We employed Fisher's exact test to assess the association between categorical variables. The resulting odds ratio (OR) with a 95% confidence interval (CI) was reported. To examine the differences between continuous variables, Welch's test was used, and in the case of non-normal distributions, the Mann-Whitney test was employed. The specific test names can be found in the figure descriptions. The Cox proportional hazard model was applied to evaluate the impact of various variables on the occurrence of the

outcome variable. The results of the Cox proportional hazard model were reported as OR with a 95% CI. Both univariate and multivariate modeling were conducted using the enter method. Dichotomous variables were encoded as 0/1 during model development. In the construction of Kaplan-Meier curves, cumulative events were plotted, and the curves were compared using the log-rank test. The resulting hazard ratios (HR) with 95% CI were reported.

3.5. Applied definitions and scores

Disease activity: To exclude intraobserver differences between the participating physicians, for documenting disease activity age- and disease-subtype-specific, validated scores were applied. In pediatric care, these were PCDAI [67] and PUCAI [193], while in adult care CDAI [66] and Mayo score [194], for CD and UC patients, respectively. For IBD-U patients the applied scoring system was determined based on the decision of the healthcare provider. The cut-off values for the different activities were defined based on the official recommendation of the scoring systems.

Relapse: Relapse was defined as a significant worsening of the disease activity and/or a reported moderate or severe disease activity. Both the terms significant change and disease activity were defined based on the above-mentioned disease activity scores.

Disease extent and phenotype: The Paris classification was used [61].

Hospitalizations and surgeries: Only the IBD-related interventions were analysed.

Medical and nutritional therapy: Examined medical treatments included steroids, biologics, aminosalicylates, antibiotics, and immunomodulators (e.g. azathioprine, methotrexate) taken either as maintenance therapy or for remission induction for IBD. EEN, Crohn's disease exclusion diet (CDED), and tube feeding were considered and noted as nutritional treatments. Only the IBD-related treatments were analysed.

Successful transfer to adult care: A successful transfer to adult care was defined based on the ECCO proposal as continuity of care, determined as the patient attending at least one planned adult care visit during the examination period. Emergency room visits without further follow-up were not considered a successful transfer. *Lost-to-follow-up patients:* During pediatric care, if at least a year elapsed since their last attended visit and the patients did not recontinue their medical care during the follow-up period they were considered lost-to-follow-up.

Those patients, who during their last pediatric visit took part in a transitional meeting or expressed their will to self-transfer to adult care, but during the examination period neither attended any adult care visit nor requested prescriptions for their medications and at least a year elapsed since their last pediatric visit were considered lost-to-follow-up during the changing period.

Of those patients, who attended at least one planned visit in adult care, but then discontinued their medical care for more than a year, neither requested medications nor attended any more visits until the end of the study period were considered lost-to-follow-up during adult care. Exception: some adult healthcare providers requested visits with an active disease, without any regular planned visits, these patients were not considered lost-to-follow-up, if a year elapsed since their last visit.

Non-compliance: The regular visits during pediatric care took place every 3 to 4 months for CD and 4 to 6 months for UC patients, therefor after 190 days of non-appearance to visits patients were reported non-compliance. Furthermore, non-compliance was documented when the patients showed non-adherence to their medications or discontinued them.

3.6. Ethical considerations

Our study was approved by the Semmelweis University Clinical Research Ethics Committee. The de-identification of data ensured the anonymity of the patients.
4. Results

4.1. Main characteristics

351 PIBD patients were eligible to be enrolled in our study, whose characteristics can be seen in **Table 2**. The number of patients diagnosed with the different IBD subtypes yearly during the examination period can be seen in **Figure 6**.

Table 2. | Main characteristics of the patients enrolled in our study

Category	Patient data
Gender (female), n (%)	181 (51.5%)
Race (caucasian), n (%)	351 (100%)
Age at diagnosis, mean \pm SD (years)	11.99 ± 4.19
Disease subtype - Crohn's disease, n (%) - Ulcerative colitis, n (%) - Inflammatory bowel disease unclassified (IBD-U), n (%)	187 (53.28%) 117 (33.33%) 47 (13.39%)
Very early onset inflammatory bowel disease (VEO-IBD), n (%)	41 (11.68%)
Disease duration at the end of the study period, mean \pm SD (years)	6.51 ± 4.14
Family history positivity to inflammatory bowel disease, n (%)	79 (22.51%)

SD - standard deviation



Figure 6. | The yearly number of patients newly diagnosed with the different inflammatory bowel disease subtypes enrolled in our study

The initially determined **subtype was changed** in 13.11% of the patients (n = 46), with a mean disease duration of 4.05 ± 3.72 years. After being moved to adult care 5.15% of the patients (n = 7) had a diagnosis change, after a mean of 1.39 ± 0.99 years spent in adult care. The primary UC diagnosis changed in 24.79% of the patients, which was significantly higher than the proportion of either the CD (4.81%) or the IBD-U (17%) patients (*p* < 0.0001 and *p* = 0.0086) (**Figure 7.**).



Figure 7. | Diagnosis changes regarding the inflammatory bowel disease subtype

The **Paris classification** regarding the disease extent and behaviour was documented in 295 patients (84.05%).

The most commonly affected localisations in CD were *ileocolonic* (57.81%) and *upper gastrointestinal* (57.29%) with a 31,77% of the patients having either *stricturing or fistulising* phenotype and with 15.63% having a *perianal manifestation*.

The most common extent of UC was *pancolitis* (55%), followed by *left-sided colitis* (21.36%), with 66.02% of the UC patients having a *non-severe* disease behaviour.

The disease extent was documented in more than one endoscopic examination for 110 CD and 23 UC patients, of whom the disease became more extensive during the study period in 34.55% (n = 38) and in 30.44% (n = 7), respectively.

4.2. Mentor program

During the study period, 43 patients enrolled in the educational program (14.93%), of whom 11 patients (25.58%) already joined at the time of their diagnosis. The main characteristics of these can be seen in **Table 3**.

Table 3. | Main characteristics of the patients enrolled in our mentor program

Category	Patient data
Enrolled patients - from all patients (n = 351), n (%) - from the patients eligible for enrollment (n = 288), n (%)	43 (12.25%) 43 (14.93%)
Gender (female), n (%)	24 (55.81%)
Age at enrollment, mean ± SD (years)	15.41 ± 0.85
Disease duration at enrollment, mean \pm SD (years)	2.71 ± 3.32
Disease subtype - Crohn's disease, n (%) - Ulcerative colitis, n (%) - Inflammatory bowel disease unclassified, n (%)	21 (48.84%) 9 (20.93%) 13 (30.23%)
Transition / Self-transfer characteristics - Moved to adult care, n (%) - Transition, n (%) - Self-transfer, n (%)	17 (39.54%) 10 (58.82%) 7 (41.18%)
SD - standard deviation	

4.3. Transition and self-transfer to adult care

During the examination period, 43.3% (n = 152) of all patients got moved to adult care, of whom 73 (48%) enrolled in our transitional program and 79 (52%) self-transferred to adult care. Their main characteristics can be seen in Table 4., and the yearly number of patients moved to adult care in Figure 8. With multivariable logistic regression, none of the examined variables showed to be a significant determinant for patients to be more likely to be enrolled in the transition or to self-transfer, including patient variables (gender, chronic diseases, age, disease duration, compliance), disease variables (subtype, extent, phenotype, activity, EIMs, complications), and treatment variables (medications, hospitalizations, surgeries, side effects).

A significantly higher proportion of the transitioned patients had their disease in remission at the time of transfer to adult care than the self-transferred patients (91.04% vs. 68.16%, p = 0.0012; OR 0.2101 [95% CI: 0.08115 - 0.5472]). At the first

adult visit, the proportion of patients with their disease in remission was 83.58% among the transitioned and 69.57% among the self-transferred patients (p = 0.0691). The mean time elapsed between the last pediatric and the first adult care visit was significantly higher in the self-transferred group than in the transitional group (361.95 ± 476.01 days vs. 141.44 ± 158.43 days, p = 0.0002).

After being moved to adult care, the mean **follow-up time** was 3.04 ± 1.67 years, accounting for 3.73 ± 1.72 years in the self-transferred and 2.13 ± 1.27 years in the transitioned group (p < 0.0001).

Moved to adult care Self-transfer Transition **P-value** (n = 152)(n = 79)(n = 73)Gender (female), n (%) 78 (51.32%) 44 (55.7%) 34 (46.58%) 0.3299 **Disease subtype** 0.5950 - Crohn's disease, n (%) 99 (65.13%) 52 (65.82%) 47 (64.38%) - Ulcerative colitis, n (%) 38 (25%) 21 (26.58%) 17 (23.29%) - IBD-U, n (%) 15 (9.86%) 6 (7.6%) 9 (12.33%) **Transfer characteristics** Disease duration, mean 5.78 ± 3.62 5.49 ± 3.43 6.16 ± 3.75 0.2461 \pm SD (years) Age, mean \pm SD (years) 19.03 ± 1.08 18.75 ± 1.02 19.32 ± 1.07 0.3693

Table 4. | Main characteristics of the patients moved to adult care

IBD-U - inflammatory bowel disease unclassified, SD - standard deviation



Figure 8. | The yearly number of patients moved to adult care

4.4. Lost-to-follow-up patients, discontinuing medical care

During the study period, 49 patients discontinued their medical care, accounting for 13.96% of all patients. The 5.13% lost-to-follow-up rate reported in pediatric care significantly increased after being transferred to adult care, affecting every fifth patient (20.4%, p < 0.0001, OR 5.331 [95% CI: 2.900 to 9.798]). The rate of discontinuation of care was the highest during the changing period from the pediatric to the adult health care system, reaching 12.66% of all patients, accounting for 8.22% of the transitioned and 10.53% of the self-transferred patients (p = 0.4540; OR 0.6179 [95% CI: 0.2109 - 1.6650]). The characteristics of the lost-to-follow-up patients can be seen in Table 5.

	Pediatric care	P-value	Transferring period	P- value	Adult care	P-value	
Number of patients, n (%)	18 (5.13%)	-	16 (12.66%)	-	15 (11.03%)	-	
Gender: female, n (%)	7 (38.89%)	0.4055	14 (87.5%)	0.0027	6 (40.0%)	0.4985	
Disease subtype - Crohn's disease, n (%) - Ulcerative colitis, n (%) - IBD-U, n (%)	12 (66.67%) 4 (22.22%) 2 (11.11%)	0.3423	11 (68.75%) 3 (18.75%) 2 (12.5%)	0.8022	9 (60,0%) 5 (33.33%) 1 (6.67%)	0.0527	
Transitioned, n (%)	-		6 (37.5%)	0.4352	4 (26.67%)	0.0635	
Disease duration , mean ± SD (years)	2.99 ± 3.09	-	4.70 ± 4.09	-	7.67 ± 3.21	-	
Age, mean \pm SD (years)	15.8 ± 3.33	-	18.62 ± 0.93	-	21.28 ± 1.31	-	
IBD-U - inflammatory bowel disease unclassified, SD - standard deviation							

Table 5.	Main c	haracteristics	of	lost-to-fol	low-up	patients	during	the di	fferent	periods (of care
10010 0.			· · ·		i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	parterio	B			p • • • • • • • • •	

Transition showed to be a significant protective factor for continuing care, as after the initiation of the healthcare provider changes 13.7% (n = 10) of the transitioned and 26.58% (n = 21) of the self-transferred patients discontinued their medical care (p = 0.0367; OR 0.4384 [95% CI: 0.193 - 1.018]. With Kaplan-Meier analysis, compared to the transitioned group the **self-transferred patients were shown to be at a 1.59-fold higher risk of discontinuing their medical care after leaving pediatric care**, including both the changing and the adult healthcare period (p = 0.0489) (**Figure 9.**).



Figure 9. | Kaplan-Meier curve analysis of the self-transferred and transitioned patients regarding the probability of discontinuation medical care (*HR* - *hazard ratio*) *The shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval around the Kaplan-Meier survival estimates.*

The mean time elapsed since loss of care (last attended visit) was significantly higher among the self-transferred patients compared to the ones enrolled in our transitional program $(2.71 \pm 1.48 \text{ years vs. } 1.65 \pm 0.90 \text{ years}, p = 0.0490)$.

After performing multiple univariate and multivariate logistic regressions examining the risk factor for discontinuation of medical care (**Table 6.**), the **higher number of days being hospitalized yearly showed to be a risk factor during pediatric care** (17.85 \pm 23.1 days vs. 9.27 \pm 10.2 days, p = 0.014; OR 1.036 [95% CI: 0.010 - 0.062]). Female gender was a risk factor during the changing period between the two healthcare systems, with 87.5% (n = 14) of the lost patients being female (p = 0.010). This accounts for 17.95% of all female patients being moved to adult care compared to 2.7% of the male patients being lost (p = 0.0027; OR 7.875 [95% CI: 1.946 - 35.61]). The only significant protective factor for continuing care in the adult system was the enrollment in our transitional program (p = 0.0007), with a lost-to-follow-up-rate of 5.97% (n = 4) vs. 15.94% (n = 11) among the transitioned and self-transferred patients.

Treatment with biologics was a protective factor for continuing care both during pediatric care and the changing period (p = 0.028 and p = 0.038), but after multivariate analysis, it failed to reach the level of significance.

Multivariate models	Pediatric car	e	Transferring / transitioning period		Adult care	
Variables	OR [95% CI]	P-value	OR [95% CI]	P-value	OR [95% CI]	P-value
Gender (female)	0.918 [-1.293 - 1.122]	0.890	10.410 [0.553 - 4.132]	0.010	0.554 [-2.019 - 0.838]	0.418
Compliance problems	1.322 [-1.623 - 2.182]	0.774	1.926 [-1.079 - 2.389]	0.459	7.9240x10 ⁺⁷ [-6544.17 - 6580.55]	0.996
Coexisting chronic disease	0.424 [-2.288 - 0.573]	0.424	0.322 [-3.142 - 0.874]	0.268	0.381 [-2.716 - 0.787]	0.281
Family history positivity to IBD	1.774 [-0.774 - 1.920]	0.404	2.508 [-0.796 - 2.634]	0.293	1.005 [-1.883 - 1.893]	0.996
Disease activity (% of active disease)	0.615 [-3.771 - 2.800]	0.772	8.130 [-2.129 - 6.320]	0.331	0.230 [-5.828 - 2.884]	0.508
IBD-related complications	6.168x10 ⁷ [-2669.66 - 2705.54]	0.990	0.529 [-3.083 - 1.809]	0.610	2.341 [-1.483 - 3.184]	0.475
Disease subtype (IBD-U)	0.404 [-3.069 - 1.254]	0.411	4.560 [-0.754 - 3.789]	0.190	0.673 [-3.364 - 2.571]	0.793
Disease subtype (UC)	0.307 [-2.898 - 0.534]	0.177	0.849 [-2.073 - 1.746]	0.867	1.549 [-1.431 - 2.306]	0.646
Extraintestinal manifestations	0.506 [-1.974 - 0.610]	0.301	0.780 [-2.059 - 1.562]	0.788	1.423 [-1.381 - 2.087]	0.690
Age at the time of diagnosis	0.893 [-0.314 - 0.087]	0.267	4.269x10 ⁻⁵⁰ [-317.107 - 89.751]	0.273	1.690x10 ⁻⁴⁵ [-276.675 - 70.491]	0.244
Biologics	0.287 [-3.147 - 0.647]	0.197	0.200 [-3.679 - 0.456]	0.127	1.251 [-1.782 - 2.231]	0.827
Aminosalicylates	1.182 [-1.358 - 1.693]	0.830	0.732 [-3.803 - 3.180]	0.861	2.187x10 ⁺⁸ [-9452.31 - 9490.72]	0.997
Immunomodulators (AZA, MTX)	0.505 [-2.191 - 0.825]	0.375	15.624 [-0.195 - 5.692]	0.067	0.389 [-2.921 - 1.033]	0.349
Steroids	0.505 [-2.051 - 0.685]	0.328	0.259 [-3.306 - 0.602]	0.175	0.372 [-2.822 - 0.844]	0.290
Side effects of IBD medications	0.812 [-1.763 - 1.345]	0.792	0.335 [-2.959 - 0.773]	0.251	0.461 [-2.468 - 0.919]	0.370
Surgeries	0.248 [-4.513 - 1.725]	0.381	0.561 [-3.574 - 2.418]	0.705	0.284 [-3.680 - 1.163]	0.308
Hospitalizations (days / year)	1.056 [0.011 - 0.097]	0.014	1.021 [-0.086 - 0.128]	0.697	1.116 [-0.050 - 0.270]	0.179
Mentor program	0.439 [-3.054 - 1.407]	0.469	1.663 [-1.481 - 2.499]	0.616	9.395x10 ⁻⁹ [-7118.96 - 7118.96]	0.996
Age at transfer	-	-	1.571x10 ⁴⁹ [-89.918 - 316.48]	0.275	1.020x10 ⁺⁴⁵ [-70.004 - 277.28]	0.242
Disease activity at transfer	-	-	0.935 [-0.210 - 0.076]	0.357	0.926 [-0.221 - 0.068]	0.300
Disease duration at transfer	-	-	3.997x10 ⁻⁵⁰ [-317.169 - 89.68]	0.273	1.542x10 ⁻⁴⁵ [-276.82 - 70.45]	0.244
Transition vs. Self- transfer	-	-	0.479 [-2.302 - 0.828]	0.356	0.091 [-4.1450.641]	0.007

Table 6. | Multivariate logistic regression for discontinuation of care

OR - odds ratio, CI - confidence interval, IBD - inflammatory bowel disease, IBD-U - inflammatory bowel disease unclassified, UC - ulcerative colitis, AZA - azathioprine, MTX - methotrexate

4.5. Disease activity

The mean and median time patients spent with each disease activity, as well as with a disease in remission in both adult and pediatric care can be seen in **Figure 10**.



Figure 10. | Disease activity of the patients in pediatric and adult care *(mean with SD and median) (w/o - without, w - with)*

After being moved to adult care, **48.53%** (n = 66) of the patients experienced a relapse during the follow-up period, accounting for significantly more patients of the self-transferred group than of the transitioned patients (59.42% vs. 37.31%, p = 0.0108; OR 2.460 [1.258 - 4.993]). With Kaplan-Meier curve analysis (Figure 11.) this difference was also shown to be significant, resulting in a **1.88-fold increased risk of relapse among the self-transferred patients** compared to the transitioned group during the same timeframe in adult care (95% CI 1.13 - 3.09, p = 0.013). The mean time elapsed until the first relapse since the last pediatric visit was 358.68 ± 343.68 days, without a significant difference between the self-transferred and the transitioned group (p = 0.6116).

The mean follow-up time among the patients who did not experience a relapse was 2.36 ± 1.36 years.



Figure 11. | Kaplan-Meier curve analysis of the self-transferred and transitioned patients regarding the probability of relapse (*HR* - *hazard ratio*) *The shaded area represents the 95% confidence interval around the Kaplan-Meier survival estimates.*

The transitioned patients spent a significantly higher proportion of time with a disease in remission in adult care compared to the self-transferred patients (83.63% $\pm 28.5\%$ vs. 77.47% $\pm 29.65\%$, p = 0.0339; OR 0.7703 [0.7448 - 0.7967]). Additionally, the time while the disease of the self-transferred patients had severe disease activity was significantly higher compared to the transitioned patients (1.66% $\pm 4.88\%$ vs. 1.15% $\pm 5.27\%$, p = 0.0204). To exclude that the baseline disease activity was already higher among the self-transferred patients, we also compared the disease activity of the 2 groups during pediatric care. There was no significant difference either between the proportion of time spent in remission (p = 0.1337) or with severe disease activity (p = 0.5390) in pediatric care, therefore in our study transition was shown to be a protective factor against serious disease activity, as well as a significant determinant of disease remission in adult care (Figure 12./ A. and B.).

A. Pediatric care



Figure 12./ **A. and B.** | Disease activity of the self-transferred and transitioned patients in pediatric and in adult care (w - with, w/o - without)

4.6. Patient compliance

Compliance problems were reported in 69.52% (n = 244) of all patients, with a mean of 3.03 ± 2.57 occasions per person. The non-compliance rate was increasing with both age and disease duration, exceeding 50% non-compliance rate by the time of transferring to adult care (Figure 13./ A. and B.).



Figure 13./ A. and B. | Non-compliance rate of all patients regarding age and disease duration with logarithmic trend line

After being moved to adult care the compliance of all patients significantly decreased (38.46% vs. 28.95%, p = 0.0002; OR 0.4148 [0.2591 - 0.6666]). The noncompliance rate was 77.5% among the self-transferred and 63.01% among the transitioned patients (p = 0.0534), resulting in a significantly higher adherence to medications among the transitioned group compared to the self-transferred patients (31.88% vs. 16.42% non-adherence rate, p = 0.0455; OR 2.383 [CI 95%: 1.042 - 5.156]).

Non-frequent clinical attendance accounted for the majority of the non-compliance in both pediatric and adult care (68.08% and 78.8%), followed by non-adherence to medications (26.49% and 20.74%). Regarding medication non-adherence, 55% of the patients discontinued all of their medications, with the highest discontinuation rate for *azathioprine* (16.88%) and the lowest for *biologics* (3.75%). Interestingly, the most common therapeutic method that patients refused was also *biologics* (31.25%), followed by *EEN* (15.63%). **During the changing period to adult care, 8.89% of all patients discontinued their medications**, accounting for 10.94% of the self-transferred and 7.04% of the transitioned patients (p = 0.2900), with the majority discontinuing *aminosalicylates* (50%) or *azathioprine* (33.33%).

4.7. Healthcare providers and visits

The mean time elapsed between visits was significantly longer in adult care than in pediatric care (165.53 \pm 202.1 days vs. 92.28 \pm 84.35 days, p < 0.0001), without a significant difference between the transitioned and self-transferred patients (p = 0.2510). The transitioned patients continued their medical care during the majority (96.06%) of the follow-up period in IBD Centers, classified as healthcare providers specialized in the treatment of IBD patients, which rate was significantly lower among the self-transferred patients (36.7%, p < 0.0001; OR 0.0238 [0.0218 - 0.0261]). The proportion of the patients, who changed their adult care physician at least once during the follow-up period was 21.74% of the self-transferred and 8.96% of the transitioned patients (p = 0.0564).

4.8. Hospitalizations and surgical interventions

Hospitalizations

As the initial diagnostic examinations were performed as in-patient tests, the hospitalization rate was 100% during pediatric care, and decreased to 20.59% in adult care, accounting for 16.42% of the transitioned and 24.64% of the self-transferred patients (p = 0.2908, OR 1.396 [95% CI: 0.6258 - 3.102]). The mean time spent in the hospital because of IBD-related reasons years was 6.51 ± 7.20 days in pediatric and 4.35 ± 4.71 days in adult care yearly. The reasons for hospitalizations and the proportion of affected patients in both pediatric and adult care can be seen in **Table 7**.

During pediatric care, 3.7% of all patients (n = 13) required intensive care treatment, for IBD-related complications (60%), surgeries (15%), and IBD relapses (15%). During the follow-up period in adult care only one patient was admitted to the intensive care unit, she was a female with CD, self-transferred to adult care, and needed intensive care treatment after an emergency bowel resection surgery.

	Pediatric car	e (n = 351)*	Adult care (n = 136)				
	Hospitalizations, n (%)	Affected patients, n (%)	Hospitalizations, n (%)	Affected patients, n (%)			
Relapse	421 (29.5%)	154 (43.88%)	19 (31.67%)	15 (11.03%)			
Surgery	48 (3.36%)	31 (8.83%)	20 (33.33%)	14 (10.29%)			
Endoscopic procedures	369 (25.86%)	177 (50.43%)	3 (5%)	3 (2.21%)			
Biological therapy	157 (11%)	74 (21.08%)	1 (1.167%)	1 (0.74%)			
IBD-related other diseases	47 (3.29%)	16 (4.56%)	9 (15%)	1 (0.74%)			
IBD-related compliactions	75 (5.26%)	34 (9.69%)	8 (13.33%)	4 (2.94%)			
Medication side effects	19 (1.33%)	18 (5.13%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)			
*excluding the initial diagnostic hospitalizations, IBD - inflammatory bowel disease							

Table 7. | Reasons of hospitalisations and the proportion of affected patients in pediatric and adult care

Surgical interventions

During pediatric care, **15.01% of our patients required surgery** (n = 53), a mean of 1.89 times per person, with 25.74% of these procedures being emergency interventions.

Six patients (1.71%) required surgery already at the time of diagnosis. The mean age of patients at the time of the first surgical intervention was 14.56 ± 3.76 years, with a mean disease duration of 2.79 ± 2.94 years. The surgical rate was significantly higher among the CD patients than either among the IBD-U or the UC patients (23.98% vs. 6.67% vs. 2.11%, p = 0.0028 and p < 0.0001).

During the follow-up period in adult care, 12.5% of the patients required surgical intervention, accounting for 13.04% of the self-transferred and 11.94% of the transitioned patients (p = 1.0), resulting in a mean of 1.82 surgery per person. 22.58% of these procedures were emergency interventions. The mean time elapsed from the last pediatric visit until the first surgical intervention in adult care was 1.86 ± 1.5 years, without a significant difference between the self-transferred and the transitioned group (p = 0.8245). The most common surgical interventions both in pediatric and adult care can be seen in Figure 14.



Figure 14. | Surgical interventions in adult and pediatric care

The most common **resection surgeries** were *ileocaecal resection* (43.86%), followed by *total colectomy* (19.3%) and *right hemicolectomy* (19.3%). The reasons behind an **explorative laparotomy** were *intraabdominal abscesses* (40%), *peritonitis of unknown origin* (33.33%), *intestinal perforation* (20%), and *gastrointestinal bleeding* (6.67%).

4.9. Extraintestinal manifestations

EIMs were reported in 70.66% (n = 248) of all patients, with 10.92% (n = 37) having them already at the time of their IBD diagnosis. The proportion of affected patients was the highest among the ones with CD (75.51%), followed by the IBD-U (70%) and the UC (61.05%) patients. Of the 22 different EIMS reported during the examination period, *musculoskeletal* (46.97%) and "general" (33.88%) complaints were the most common, with the symptoms being *arthralgia* (45.34%) and *fever* (33.88%).

4.10. IBD-related complications

IBD-related complications were reported in 23.36% of all patients (n = 218), with a mean of 3.02 ± 3.59 complications per person. The mean age at the time of the appearance of complications was 15.64 ± 4.5 years, with a mean disease duration of 4.83 ± 4.13 years. The lowest complication rate was seen among the UC patients (11.58%), with a significant difference compared to both the CD (28.06%) and the IBD-U patients (26.67%) (*p* = 0.0016 and *p* = 0.0282).

A severe disease course resulted in complications in 77.49% of the cases, followed by 10.49% due to treatment, and in 11.69% both played a role. Hospitalization was necessary in 51.24% of the cases, with a significantly higher surgical rate in adult care compared to pediatric care (30% vs. 12%; p = 0.0255; OR 0.3475 [0.151 -0.8323]). The most common complications were *severe anemia* (43.55%), *osteoporosis* (9.27%), and *intraabdominal abscess* (9.27%). Altogether 16 different complications were categorized as severe, being reported 64 times, accounting for 25.8% of all cases.

Bone densitometry was performed in 77.49% of our patients (n = 272). Bone density was decreasing with both age and longer disease duration, with most patients being at high risk for low bone density at the time of transfer (Figure 15./ A. and B.). The mean age of patients with osteopenia was 15.52 ± 3.32 years with a mean disease duration of 3.69 ± 2.98 years and 16.44 ± 2.27 years of age and 6.10 ± 4.37 years disease duration for osteoporosis. Pathologic fractures were reported in 5 patients, on 6 occasions.



Figure 15./ A. and B. | Bone densitometry results of the patients regarding age and disease duration with linear trend model and 95% CI

Malignancies

Malignancies were reported in 2 patients, both of them are male and have CD.

The gastrointestinal neuroendocrine tumor was an accidental finding during the histological examination of a bowel segment resected during emergency surgery after an ileus. The patient was 16.25 years old at the time, with a disease duration of 0.25 years. The lymphoma was reported to be potentially caused by the infliximab treatment. The patient was 19.69 years old, with a disease duration of 7.77 years. He underwent a total of 1023 days of infliximab treatment with the last 382 days being intensified.

4.11. Anthropometry

Weight

CD patients were prone to malnutrition during the examination period, with 11.94% of their weight measurements being at the severely low range, and a significantly lower proportion of their measurements being in the normal range (69.14%), compared to either the IBD-U or the UC patients (81.57% and 78.27%, p < 0.0001). The proportion of patients with severely high weight percentile was significantly higher after 5 years of disease duration (1.15% vs. 4.65%, p = 0.0158; OR 0.1530 [95% CI: 0.03117 - 0.6379]) (Figure 16./ A. and B.).



Figure 16./ A. and B. | Weight percentile ranges at the time and 5 years after diagnosis (*IBD-U- inflammatory bowel disease unclassified, pc - percentile*)

Height

IBD-U patients were shown to be at high risk of inadequate growth, as 9.23% of all their height measurements were at the severely low range (< 3 pc), compared to the 4.62% reported among the CD and 0.26% of the UC patients (p = 0.0089 and p < 0.0001; OR 0.4767 [0.2884 - 0.8179]. The proportion of measurements of the UC patients (98.21%) in the normal range was significantly higher compared to either the

IBD-U (86.54%) or the CD patients (89.03%) (p < 0.0001). There was no significant difference in either IBD subgroup regarding the proportion of patients in each height percentile at the time of the diagnosis and after 5 years of disease onset.

BMI

At the time of the diagnosis, all patients had their BMI percentile in the normal range (5 - 85 pc). The proportion of the patients being in the normal BMI percentile range significantly decreased for all disease subtypes after 5 years of disease duration, resulting in a high risk for non-adequate nutrition and/or growth by the time of transfer to adult care (p < 0.0001 for CD and UC and all patients, p = 0.0116 for IBD-U; OR 149.1 [9.012 - 2468]) (Figure 17.). CD patients had a low BMI percentile in 13.55% of the measurements, which was significantly higher than the proportion of either the IBD-U or the UC patients (p = 0.0054 and p = 0.0093).





4.12. Medical and nutritional treatments

The proportion of patients receiving each medication group, also regarding their disease subtype can be seen in **Figure 18**.



Figure 18. | The proportion of patients recieving each therapeutical subgroup (* significant difference to both other disease subtypes) (*IBD-U* - undetermined inflammatory bowel disease, *EEN* - exclusive enteral nutrition, *CDED* - Crohn's disease exclusion diet)

In adult care, 63.97% (n = 87) of all patients required a therapy change, without a significant difference between the self-transferred (62.32%, n = 43) and the transitioned (65.67%, n = 44) group (p = 0.7233). The mean time elapsed until the first therapy change was 230.82 ± 320.86 days among the transitioned and 154.47 ± 236.46 days among the self-transferred patients (p = 0.2107). Therapy escalations accounted for 62.5% of all these treatment modifications, of which 5% were the reinduction of the self-discontinued medications. Every third therapy escalation was steroid application (33.33%), whereas biological therapy induction or intensification accounted for 14.67% of these changes.

The proportion of patients receiving **biologics** was 38% in both pediatric and adult care, with 7.35% of the patients having their therapy induced after being transferred.

Steroid treatment was applied in 72.08% of the patients in pediatric and 63.24% in adult care, accounting for 66.67% of the self-transferred and 59.7% of the transitioned group (p = 0.4775). The mean time of steroid treatment was 30.92 ± 78.98 days per year for topical and 73.63 ± 113.76 days per year for systemic steroid therapy. The mean

follow-up time of the patients who remained steroid-free since their diagnosis (n = 98) was 4.59 ± 3.29 years, accounting for 33.68% of the UC, 27.55% of the CD and 20% of the IBD-U patients (*p* = 0.0095).

Every third patient (34.19%, n = 120) received **EEN** during the study period, accounting for 92.5% of the CD, 6.67% of the IBD-U, and 0.83% of the UC patients. The mean length of EEN was 45.69 ± 25.79 days. In adult care, there was only one patient, a male with CD who received EEN, for 82 days. **CDED** therapy was used in 11.4% of all patients, of whom 90% had CD and 10% had IBD-U. The mean length was 350.48 ± 277.37 days. Five patients (1.43%) needed **tube feeding**, for a mean time of 32.67 ± 34.29 days. 3 patients had CD, and 1-1 had UC and IBD-U.

Side effects

Side effects of IBD medications were reported in 34.76% of all patients, accounting for 39.8% of CD, 33.3% of the IBD-U, and 25.26% of UC patients. Evaluating the frequency of appearance of side effects, there was an event reported every 1069.63 days during methotrexate treatment, every 1252.05 days during steroid, every 1300.23 days during infliximab, every 4969 days during adalimumab and every 5043.76 days during azathioprine therapy. Based on the evaluation of the health care providing physicians 57.78% of the reported side effects were categorized as mild, 31.56% as moderate, and 10.67% as severe. The most common side effects were *steroid signs* (20%), *allergic reaction* (13.35%), *gastritis* (6.67%), *abdominal pain* (6.67%), and *pancreatitis* (5.78%). The 10 different side effects categorized as severe by the healthcare providers were caused by either azathioprine, infliximab, aminosalicylates, or steroids.

4.13. Mortality

One patient (0.285%) died during the examination period at the age of 16.6 years, 9.44 years after being diagnosed with CD. The cause of his death was multi-organ failure and myocarditis.

5. Discussion

This study aimed to define the clinical determinants of a successful transition and examine the objective and measurable effects of the changing process from pediatric to adult care on the disease course, activity, and patient compliance, including the comparison of a structured transitional program with self-transfer. Furthermore, we wanted to determine the unique characteristics of PIBD patients, that require special attention in adult care.

Despite transition being inevitable for PIBD patients and in the past decades it has been increasingly recognised as an essential, yet challenging element in ensuring the best possible disease outcome and overall health for patients, there are currently no consensus transitional guidelines and practices [195]. To date, most of the transitional recommendations are based on single-center studies, expert opinions, or surveys, and did not detect the long-term outcomes of structured transitional interventions [196]. However, extrapolating from the research data from a broader pediatric spectrum, young adults are expected to face similar difficulties during and after the healthcare-changing period, resulting in disruptions in their medical care, more frequent relapses, complications, and increased morbidity [141].

What are the determinants of a successful transitioning process?

As there is no clear definition of the term "*successful transition*", it is rather challenging to compare studies evaluating the success rate of different transitioning practices or a structured program with self-transfer [196]. The most commonly used outcome to measure the success of a transitional program, as suggested by ECCO, is the continuity of care, but other objective measures are also in use, such as hospitalization or surgical rates, quality of life, or corticosteroid usage [197]. Continuity of care is a multi-dimensional, patient-oriented construct, composed of health-service-related domains, including care coordination, care integration, and patient-provider communication [198]. The importance of continuity of care has been documented and objectively measured in numerous pediatric-onset chronic diseases [198]. Even with a successful

transition, it is challenging to keep up the continuity between the last pediatric and the first adult care visit, as this is the most vulnerable period of the changing process, without a definitive connection to either of the healthcare systems. This changing period was reported to be longer, than 6 months among *type 1 diabetes mellitus* patients, whereas Yearushalmy-Fehler et al. found it to be less, than 3 months for their IBD patients [199, 200]. Among our patients who were successfully moved to adult care, this time spent without definitive care between the healthcare systems was significantly longer among the self-transferred group, with a mean of nearly one year elapsed until the first attended adult care visit.

Disease-specific knowledge, self-efficacy, and autonomy are thoroughly studied and recognised as critical parts of transition readiness. The reluctance of patients and their parents, due to the close relationship with their pediatric healthcare providers is generally considered one of the main limitations to a successful transfer [126, 145, 169, 189, 190]. Furthermore, worries about working with a new healthcare provider, preconceptions of receiving poorer care in the adult healthcare system and parental involvement are frequently reported as barrier factors [201]. There are fewer studies examining the effects of clinical variables on the success of the transitioning process, and their reported results show great variability. Keefer et al. found, that patient demographics, disease, or socioeconomics did not impact transition readiness, once selfefficacy and resilience were taken into account [177, 202, 203]. In a study examining patients between 16 and 25 years, higher age and female gender were associated with better transition readiness [165]. McManus et al. in their survey-based study found that male patients, and those with developmental, physical, or psychological impairments were less likely to successfully transition to adult care [204]. Brink et al. examined 50 PIBD patients who enrolled in a structured transition and evaluated their clinical data after a 2- to 6-year-long follow-up period. Female patients and the ones with active disease before the transferring process were more likely to have an unsuccessful transfer, although these results did not reach the level of significance [205]. In correspondence with the results of Brink et al., we found female gender to be a significant barrier factor for a successful transfer, with 87.5% of the patients who

discontinued their medical care during the transferring period being female, regardless of their involvement in the transitioning process.

The currently reported overall success rate of the changing process between the pediatric and adult healthcare systems is similar across the globe. In a Canadian study examining nearly three thousand PIBD patients a 17.5% lost-to-follow-up rate was documented, whereas in British Columbia it was reported as 15% to 18% [178, 179]. Correspondingly, we found a 13% lost-to-follow-up rate among our patients during transfer, which was higher than the one found in either pediatric or adult care. An unsuccessful transition to adult care is shown to be associated with an increased number of *emergency interventions*, *hospitalizations*, *higher surgical rate*, more frequent *therapy escalation*, and a *worse overall disease outcome and health* [178].

What are the short- and long-term effects of the changing process to adult care, including the comparison between transition and self-transfer on the disease activity, course, and patient compliance?

The changing process to adult care is very complex and dependent on numerous patient-, healthcare provider-, and family-related factors. Inadequate transitional care is associated with *non-adherence to medications* and *non-compliance regarding visits*, *restricted growth potential*, *higher disease activity*, and an *increased risk of surgery* [123]. Without a structured transitional program, adolescents and young adults with chronic medical conditions face many risks, with possible lifelong consequences, including *delays in appropriate medical care* and *loss-to-follow-up* [117, 133, 134, 206]. The risk of adverse health outcomes after transferring to adult care due to a poor or lack of a transitional process is firmly established [129, 173, 197, 207-211]. Improved health-related outcomes have been documented among patients with numerous different chronic conditions after being enrolled in transition as opposed to transfer, however, there is a lack of data comparing these two for IBD patients [165]. The transfer is advised to be done during stable disease and psychosocial remission, as the changing process itself is thought to have a negative effect on the disease activity [147, 150]. A study from the Netherlands comparing direct transfer with structured transitional care

among IBD patients reported a significantly higher disease activity at the time of the changing process among the transferred patients, with every third patient having an active disease, compared to less, than 10% among the transitioned patients [212]. We found the same difference among our patients, as a significantly higher proportion of the self-transferred patients had an active disease during transfer, affecting every third patient, therefore the timing of the transfer was better among the patients enrolled in our transitional program.

Continuity of care is a core issue during the changing process from pediatric to adult healthcare systems [213]. A study reported a decreased lost-to-follow-up rate in adult care after being enrolled in a structured transition among *type 1 diabetes mellitus* patients [133]. Cole et al. in the United Kingdom compared the patients enrolled in a transitional program with a historical group without any formalised transitioning process and reported significantly higher medication adherence rates and lower nonattendance, hospitalization, and surgical rates, although the treatment characteristics were not the same between the two groups [138]. The lost-to-follow-up rate among our patients after the initiation of transfer to adult care was significantly higher than it was during pediatric care, with every fifth patient discontinuing their medical care. After being moved to adult care, transition was shown to be the only significant protective factor in continuing care, resulting in a 1.59-fold increased risk among the self-transferred patients to discontinue their medical care.

The compliance of adolescent IBD patients is reported to be the lowest among all age groups and even tends to deteriorate after being moved to adult care [191]. We found the same tendency, with a significant worsening in the compliance of the patients after being moved to adult care, exceeding a 70% non-compliance rate. This accounted for 77% of the self-transferred and 63% of the transitioned patients and although it did not reach the level of significance, but showed a trend. The medication-nonadherence rate of adolescent IBD patients in the current publications ranges from 50% to 88% [214-216]. Consequently, among nonadherent patients, a 5.5-fold greater risk of relapse had been reported, raising the annual healthcare costs by 12.5% compared to the adherent patients [217, 218]. A retrospective study from Canada, reviewing the cases of

95 pediatric-onset IBD patients who were moved to adult care without a structured transitional program reported significantly fewer outpatient visits and higher non-compliance rates in adult care, without differences in the hospitalization, surgical, or emergency visit rates [219]. During the changing process to adult care, nearly 10% of our patients discontinued their medications. After being successfully moved to adult care, the medication adherence of the transitioned patients was significantly higher, with a non-adherence rate being twice as high among the self-transferred patients. Brooks et al. found the same result in their study, as medication adherence was higher among the patients being enrolled in a transitional program [123].

A structured transitional program is potentially associated with a positive impact on patient compliance, disease course, and activity and promotes a better healthcare resource utilisation [126]. Accordingly, significantly more of the self-transferred patients enrolled in our study experienced relapses during the follow-up period in our study, resulting in a 1.88-fold increased risk of relapse after being moved to adult care compared to the transitioned patients. Furthermore, the self-transferred patients had severe disease activity in a significantly higher and remission significantly lower proportion of the follow-up time in adult care compared to the transitioned patients. We found no difference between the two groups regarding hospitalization or surgery rates, as reported by Cole et al [138].

What are the unique characteristics of PIBD patients that require special attention in adult care?

PIBD is more extensive compared to the adult-onset form, with more than 40% of pediatric-onset CD patients having simultaneous ileocolonic and upper gastrointestinal involvement compared to 3% among adult patients [48]. Significantly more pediatric UC patients have pancolitis than adult-onset patients, with a 60% to 80% rate compared to a 20% to 30% rate, with up to 40% of the pediatric patients requiring colectomy after a 10-year-long disease duration [48, 220, 221]. Accordingly, simultaneous ileocolonic involvement was documented in 57% of our CD patients, with 55% of our UC patients

having pancolitis. Additionally, the disease of every third patient became more extensive during the follow-up period.

PIBD is usually characterised by a rapid disease progression, with every tenth patient requiring surgery in the first year following the diagnosis and every third to fifth after 5 years of disease duration [95-97]. The colectomy rate among pediatric UC patients is reaching 40%, compared to half as much reported among adults [48, 49]. Of all CD patients, up to 80% require surgical intervention, with every tenth needing a permanent stoma [6]. Among our patients, the surgical rate during pediatric care was 15%, after a mean of less, than three years of disease duration at the time of surgery and every fourth intervention being an emergency procedure.

By the time they arrive at adult care, PIBD patients are frequently affected by the complications of their disease, making their treatment especially complicated. The most commonly reported EICs of PIBD are *inadequate nutrition and growth, poor bone health, fertility problems*, and *malignancies* [78-82]. Every third pediatric CD patient is reported to experience linear growth retardation prior to the gastrointestinal manifestations, secondary to malnutrition and chronic inflammation, which consequently can lead to delayed puberty and further related complications [222, 223]. Approximately in half of the adult patients with PIBD the final height is 10% lower than in the general population [83]. Among our patients, IBD-U patients were reported to be at high risk for growth retardation, with nearly 10% of their measurements being in the severely low range. During our study period, the CD patients were at high risk for malnutrition, with more, than 10% of their measurements being in the severely low range. Additionally, considering all of our patients, the range of patients being in the normal BMI percentile significantly decreased after 5 years of disease duration, affecting every disease subgroup.

Chronic blood loss and inflammation, increased energy requirements, intestinal malabsorption, and frequent treatment with corticosteroids contribute to poor bone health among IBD patients [78]. The measured bone density of our patients was decreasing with both higher age and longer disease duration, with patients being at high risk for osteoporosis and consequential pathologic fractures at the time of transfer to

61

adult care. Every fifth patient experienced an IBD-related complication already during their pediatric care, further complicating their disease by the time of transfer.

Despite adolescents with IBD tend to have a medically more complex disease compared to adult patients, they have lower compliance to their care or adherence to their medications [173, 219]. During our study, 14% of all patients discontinued their medical care before being moved to adult care, in which the higher number of days spent in hospital yearly was a risk factor. A systematic review of studies published since 2005 found a 93% oral medication non-adherence rate among adolescents. They pointed out that this high non-adherence rate can lead to mistakenly perceived treatment failure, prompting ill-founded therapy escalations [224]. Other researchers are reporting a slightly lower medication non-adherence rate, it being between 50% to 66% [192]. Noncompliance was reported in two-thirds of our patients, with the most common problem being non-adherence to clinical attendance, followed by every third of patients having medication non-adherence. Of our patients, every third experienced a medication sideeffect during the examination period, which can also contribute to medication nonadherence. The non-compliance rate was increasing with both higher age and longer disease duration among our patients, reaching more than 50% at the mean age and disease duration of transfer.

The differences between the pediatric- and adult-onset IBD and two healthcare systems, the high complication rate and rapid progression of the PIBD, the inadequate knowledge and self-efficacy of young adults on the verge of being transferred to adult care emphasise the need for a structured, organised, and planned transitional process [200]. Furthermore, it is essential for PIBD patients to be treated in IBD Centers both before and after transition, where the healthcare-providing multidisciplinary team has access to all those diagnostic and therapeutic interventions that are necessary to ensure the best possible disease outcome for this unique patient group [173, 174]. During the follow-up period in adult care, the transitioned patients continued their medical care in IBD Centers 96% of the time, compared to 37% found among the self-transferred patients. This can result in suboptimal disease control and impaired treatment possibilities, with a higher complication rate and a worse overall disease outcome among the self-

transferred patient group. Adult healthcare providers should be aware, that the patients being transferred to them greatly differ from the same-aged, but adult onset-IBD patients, with a medically already complex disease course with former surgeries, often complicated with growth impairment and malnutrition, emotional distress, and non-compliance. Addressing the differences in the clinical characteristics and the course of pediatric- and adult-onset IBD, as well as the differences among the two healthcare systems is a critical step in understanding how to manage and perform a successful transition [196].

Strength and limitations

To our knowledge, our study has the highest number of patients enrolled in a structured transitional program with a comparable control group, that examined objective and measurable clinical outcomes with a long follow-up period.

We acknowledge that our research has limitations. The enrollment in the transitional and the self-transfer groups was not randomised, although there was no difference in any patient-, disease-, or treatment-specific variable between the two groups. The transition readiness was not objectively measured, but rather based on the assessment of the pediatric care physician, and the opinion of the patients and their parents. Finally, from the pediatric time period the study included a single center, as patients just partially were treated in other clinics.

6. Conclusions

We found a positive association between a structured transitional program and lower disease activity, fewer relapses, and better adherence to medications as opposed to self-transfer. Furthermore, enrollment in transition was shown to be the only significant protective factor for continuing medical care after transfer. The changing process to adult care was linked to a deterioration in medication adherence and in overall compliance of the patients, with a high lost-to-follow-up rate between the healthcare systems regardless of enrollment in a structured transition, in which female gender was a risk factor. The PIBD patients had an extensive and medically complex disease upon arriving at adult care, with a history of former surgeries and IBD-related complications, high rates of malnutrition, growth impairment, and poor bone health, and with their compliance worsening with both higher age and longer disease duration.

Based on our results and the corresponding reports of the current literature, the conduction of numerous, multi-centric transitional studies is advised in the future, as structured transitional programs seem to have a key role in ensuring the best possible disease outcome for PIBD patients. These studies could guide future recommendations, and help the establishment of a gold-stand transitional and educational method.

7. Summary

Despite 10% of every IBD having a pediatric onset, there are no established transitional guidelines and the existing recommendations are mostly based on expert opinions, single-center studies, and being extrapolated from other disciplines.

Our longitudinal, follow-up, controlled clinical study incorporated a retrospective and prospective data collection period of 20 years, including 351 PIBD patients, of whom 73 were enrolled in our transitional program, whereas 79 self-transferred to adult care and served as our control group. We aimed our study to examine the clinical determinants of a successful transition and define the objective and measurable effects of the changing process from pediatric to adult care on the disease course, activity, and patient compliance, including the comparison of a structured transitional program with self-transfer. Furthermore, we wanted to determine the unique characteristics of PIBD patients, that require special attention in adult care.

Transition was positively associated with lower disease activity, fewer relapses, better medication adherence, and a lower lost-to-follow-up rate as opposed to self-transfer. Enrollment in our structured transitional program was shown to be the only significant protective factor in adherence to medical care after the initiation of transfer to adult care. The changing process to adult care caused a deterioration in both medical adherence and overall compliance of the patients, with a high lost-to-follow-up rate, in which the female gender was a risk factor. PIBD patients had an extensive and medically complex disease upon arriving at adult care, with a history of former surgeries and IBD-related complications, high rates of malnutrition, growth impairment, and poor bone health, and with their compliance worsening with both higher age and longer disease duration.

To our knowledge, our study has the highest number of patients enrolled in a structured transitional program with a comparable control group, that examined the objective and measurable clinical outcomes with a long follow-up period. The results of our study correspond to the current state of literature and emphasize the critical role of a structured transition in providing the best possible disease outcome for PIBD patients.

65

8. References

- Kaplan GG, Windsor JW. The four epidemiological stages in the global evolution of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;18(1):56-66.
- Allchin WH. A Discussion on "Ulcerative Colitis.": Introductory Address. Proc R Soc Med. 1909;2(Med Sect):59-75.
- Crohn BB, Ginzburg L, Oppenheimer GD. Regional ileitis; a pathologic and clinical entity. Am J Med. 1952;13(5):583-90.
- Geboes K, Colombel JF, Greenstein A, Jewell DP, Sandborn WJ, Vatn MH, et al. Indeterminate colitis: a review of the concept--what's in a name? Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008;14(6):850-7.
- Matsui T, Yao T, Sakurai T, Yao K, Hirai F, Matake H, et al. Clinical features and pattern of indeterminate colitis: Crohn's disease with ulcerative colitis-like clinical presentation. J Gastroenterol. 2003;38(7):647-55.
- Molodecky NA, Soon IS, Rabi DM, Ghali WA, Ferris M, Chernoff G, et al. Increasing incidence and prevalence of the inflammatory bowel diseases with time, based on systematic review. Gastroenterology. 2012;142(1):46-54 e42; quiz e30.
- Kaplan GG, Ng SC. Globalisation of inflammatory bowel disease: perspectives from the evolution of inflammatory bowel disease in the UK and China. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;1(4):307-16.
- Coward S, Clement F, Benchimol EI, Bernstein CN, Avina-Zubieta JA, Bitton A, et al. Past and Future Burden of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases Based on Modeling of Population-Based Data. Gastroenterology. 2019;156(5):1345-53 e4.
- 9. Kaplan GG, Ng SC. Understanding and Preventing the Global Increase of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology. 2017;152(2):313-21 e2.
- Omran AR. The epidemiologic transition. A theory of the epidemiology of population change. Milbank Mem Fund Q. 1971;49(4):509-38.

- Zuckerman MK, Harper KN, Barrett R, Armelagos GJ. The evolution of disease: anthropological perspectives on epidemiologic transitions. Glob Health Action. 2014;7:23303.
- 12. Barrett B, Charles JW, Temte JL. Climate change, human health, and epidemiological transition. Prev Med. 2015;70:69-75.
- Mayberry J, Rhodes J, Hughes LE. Incidence of Crohn's disease in Cardiff between 1934-1977. Gut. 1979;20(7):602-8.
- Rose JD, Roberts GM, Williams G, Mayberry JF, Rhodes J. Cardiff Crohn's disease jubilee: the incidence over 50 years. Gut. 1988;29(3):346-51.
- Loftus EV, Jr., Silverstein MD, Sandborn WJ, Tremaine WJ, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR. Ulcerative colitis in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1940-1993: incidence, prevalence, and survival. Gut. 2000;46(3):336-43.
- Gunesh S, Thomas GA, Williams GT, Roberts A, Hawthorne AB. The incidence of Crohn's disease in Cardiff over the last 75 years: an update for 1996-2005. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;27(3):211-9.
- Shivashankar R, Tremaine WJ, Harmsen WS, Loftus EV, Jr. Incidence and Prevalence of Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis in Olmsted County, Minnesota From 1970 Through 2010. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;15(6):857-63.
- Lakatos L, Mester G, Erdelyi Z, Balogh M, Szipocs I, Kamaras G, Lakatos PL. Striking elevation in incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in a province of western Hungary between 1977-2001. World J Gastroenterol. 2004;10(3):404-9.
- Sedlack RE, Nobrega FT, Kurland LT, Sauer WG. Inflammatory colon disease in Rochester, Minnesota, 1935-1964. Gastroenterology. 1972;62(5):935-41.
- Loftus EV, Jr., Silverstein MD, Sandborn WJ, Tremaine WJ, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR. Crohn's disease in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1940-1993: incidence, prevalence, and survival. Gastroenterology. 1998;114(6):1161-8.
- 21. Benchimol EI, Fortinsky KJ, Gozdyra P, Van den Heuvel M, Van Limbergen J, Griffiths AM. Epidemiology of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: a

systematic review of international trends. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011;17(1):423-39.

- 22. Uhlig HH, Schwerd T, Koletzko S, Shah N, Kammermeier J, Elkadri A, et al. The diagnostic approach to monogenic very early onset inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2014;147(5):990-1007 e3.
- Bouhuys M, Lexmond WS, van Rheenen PF. Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Pediatrics. 2022;151(1).
- 24. Baldassano RN, Piccoli DA. Inflammatory bowel disease in pediatric and adolescent patients. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 1999;28(2):445-58.
- Lehtinen P, Ashorn M, Iltanen S, Jauhola R, Jauhonen P, Kolho KL, Auvinen A. Incidence trends of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease in Finland, 1987-2003, a nationwide study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011;17(8):1778-83.
- 26. Gasparetto M, Guariso G. Highlights in IBD Epidemiology and Its Natural History in the Paediatric Age. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2013;2013:829040.
- 27. Podolsky DK. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(6):417-29.
- Xavier RJ, Podolsky DK. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2007;448(7152):427-34.
- Ng SC, Bernstein CN, Vatn MH, Lakatos PL, Loftus EV, Jr., Tysk C, et al. Geographical variability and environmental risk factors in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2013;62(4):630-49.
- Zhang YZ, Li YY. Inflammatory bowel disease: pathogenesis. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(1):91-9.
- de Souza HSP, Fiocchi C, Iliopoulos D. The IBD interactome: an integrated view of aetiology, pathogenesis and therapy. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;14(12):739-49.
- Hugot JP, Dumay A, Barreau F, Meinzer U. Crohn's Disease: Is the Cold Chain Hypothesis Still Hot? J Crohns Colitis. 2021;15(4):678-86.
- Ananthakrishnan AN. Epidemiology and risk factors for IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;12(4):205-17.

- 34. Carroll MW, Kuenzig ME, Mack DR, Otley AR, Griffiths AM, Kaplan GG, et al. The Impact of Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Canada 2018: Children and Adolescents with IBD. J Can Assoc Gastroenterol. 2019;2(Suppl 1):S49-S67.
- 35. Ng SC, Shi HY, Hamidi N, Underwood FE, Tang W, Benchimol EI, et al. Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies. Lancet. 2017;390(10114):2769-78.
- Uhlig HH, Muise AM. Clinical Genomics in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Trends Genet. 2017;33(9):629-41.
- McGovern DP, Kugathasan S, Cho JH. Genetics of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Gastroenterology. 2015;149(5):1163-76 e2.
- Wilson DC, Russell RK. Overview of paediatric IBD. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2017;26(6):344-8.
- 39. Tobi L, Prehoda B, Balogh A, Dezsofi-Gottl A, Cseh A. [The gastrointestinal effects of COVID-19 infection during childhood and among the children affected with inflammatory bowel disease]. Orv Hetil. 2022;163(6):214-21.
- 40. Hansen R, Russell RK, Reiff C, Louis P, McIntosh F, Berry SH, et al. Microbiota of de-novo pediatric IBD: increased Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and reduced bacterial diversity in Crohn's but not in ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107(12):1913-22.
- Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, Vazquez-Baeza Y, Van Treuren W, Ren B, et al. The treatment-naive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. Cell Host Microbe. 2014;15(3):382-92.
- Mahid SS, Minor KS, Stromberg AJ, Galandiuk S. Active and passive smoking in childhood is related to the development of inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007;13(4):431-8.
- Shaw SY, Blanchard JF, Bernstein CN. Association between the use of antibiotics in the first year of life and pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105(12):2687-92.

- 44. Shaw SY, Blanchard JF, Bernstein CN. Association between the use of antibiotics and new diagnoses of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011;106(12):2133-42.
- 45. Shaw SY, Blanchard JF, Bernstein CN. Association between early childhood otitis media and pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: an exploratory population-based analysis. J Pediatr. 2013;162(3):510-4.
- Chassaing B, Koren O, Goodrich JK, Poole AC, Srinivasan S, Ley RE, Gewirtz AT. Dietary emulsifiers impact the mouse gut microbiota promoting colitis and metabolic syndrome. Nature. 2015;519(7541):92-6.
- Jakobsen C, Bartek J, Jr., Wewer V, Vind I, Munkholm P, Groen R, Paerregaard A. Differences in phenotype and disease course in adult and paediatric inflammatory bowel disease--a population-based study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;34(10):1217-24.
- 48. Van Limbergen J, Russell RK, Drummond HE, Aldhous MC, Round NK, Nimmo ER, et al. Definition of phenotypic characteristics of childhood-onset inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2008;135(4):1114-22.
- Vernier-Massouille G, Balde M, Salleron J, Turck D, Dupas JL, Mouterde O, et al. Natural history of pediatric Crohn's disease: a population-based cohort study. Gastroenterology. 2008;135(4):1106-13.
- 50. Merchant A. Inflammatory bowel disease in children: an overview for pediatric healthcare providers. Gastroenterol Nurs. 2007;30(4):278-82; quiz 83-4.
- 51. Kammermeier J, Dziubak R, Pescarin M, Drury S, Godwin H, Reeve K, et al. Phenotypic and Genotypic Characterisation of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Presenting Before the Age of 2 years. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(1):60-9.
- 52. Snapper SB. Very-Early-Onset Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y). 2015;11(8):554-6.
- 53. Ouahed J, Spencer E, Kotlarz D, Shouval DS, Kowalik M, Peng K, et al. Very Early Onset Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Clinical Approach With a Focus on the Role of Genetics and Underlying Immune Deficiencies. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2020;26(6):820-42.

- 54. Kotlarz D, Beier R, Murugan D, Diestelhorst J, Jensen O, Boztug K, et al. Loss of interleukin-10 signaling and infantile inflammatory bowel disease: implications for diagnosis and therapy. Gastroenterology. 2012;143(2):347-55.
- 55. Zaidi D, Wine E. Regulation of Nuclear Factor Kappa-Light-Chain-Enhancer of Activated B Cells (NF-kappabeta) in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Front Pediatr. 2018;6:317.
- Arai K. Very Early-Onset Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Challenging Field for Pediatric Gastroenterologists. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr. 2020;23(5):411-22.
- 57. Uhlig HH. Monogenic diseases associated with intestinal inflammation: implications for the understanding of inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2013;62(12):1795-805.
- Kelsen JR, Russo P, Sullivan KE. Early-Onset Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 2019;39(1):63-79.
- 59. Eros A, Soos A, Hegyi P, Szakacs Z, Eross B, Parniczky A, et al. Spotlight on Transition in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Systematic Review. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2020;26(3):331-46.
- Levine A, Koletzko S, Turner D, Escher JC, Cucchiara S, de Ridder L, et al. ESPGHAN revised porto criteria for the diagnosis of inflammatory bowel disease in children and adolescents. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2014;58(6):795-806.
- Levine A, Griffiths A, Markowitz J, Wilson DC, Turner D, Russell RK, et al. Pediatric modification of the Montreal classification for inflammatory bowel disease: the Paris classification. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011;17(6):1314-21.
- Ruemmele FM, Targan SR, Levy G, Dubinsky M, Braun J, Seidman EG. Diagnostic accuracy of serological assays in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 1998;115(4):822-9.
- 63. Hoffenberg EJ, Fidanza S, Sauaia A. Serologic testing for inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr. 1999;134(4):447-52.
- 64. Bartunkova J, Kolarova I, Sediva A, Holzelova E. Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies, anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies, and specific IgE to food allergens in children with inflammatory bowel diseases. Clin Immunol. 2002;102(2):162-8.
- Sawczenko A, Sandhu BK. Presenting features of inflammatory bowel disease in Great Britain and Ireland. Arch Dis Child. 2003;88(11):995-1000.
- Best WR, Becktel JM, Singleton JW, Kern F, Jr. Development of a Crohn's disease activity index. National Cooperative Crohn's Disease Study. Gastroenterology. 1976;70(3):439-44.
- 67. Hyams JS, Ferry GD, Mandel FS, Gryboski JD, Kibort PM, Kirschner BS, et al. Development and validation of a pediatric Crohn's disease activity index. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 1991;12(4):439-47.
- 68. Yoshida EM. The Crohn's Disease Activity Index, its derivatives and the Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire: a review of instruments to assess Crohn's disease. Can J Gastroenterol. 1999;13(1):65-73.
- 69. Hyams J, Markowitz J, Otley A, Rosh J, Mack D, Bousvaros A, et al. Evaluation of the pediatric crohn disease activity index: a prospective multicenter experience. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2005;41(4):416-21.
- Jorgensen LG, Fredholm L, Hyltoft Petersen P, Hey H, Munkholm P, Brandslund
 I. How accurate are clinical activity indices for scoring of disease activity in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)? Clin Chem Lab Med. 2005;43(4):403-11.
- 71. Turner D, Griffiths AM, Walters TD, Seah T, Markowitz J, Pfefferkorn M, et al. Appraisal of the pediatric Crohn's disease activity index on four prospectively collected datasets: recommended cutoff values and clinimetric properties. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105(9):2085-92.
- Ulcerative Colitis: Management in Adults, Children and Young People. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence: Guidance. London2013.
- Rubalcava NS, Gadepalli SK. Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Children and Adolescents. Adv Pediatr. 2021;68:121-42.

- Ott C, Scholmerich J. Extraintestinal manifestations and complications in IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;10(10):585-95.
- Aloi M, Cucchiara S. Extradigestive manifestations of IBD in pediatrics. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2009;13 Suppl 1:23-32.
- 76. Jose FA, Garnett EA, Vittinghoff E, Ferry GD, Winter HS, Baldassano RN, et al. Development of extraintestinal manifestations in pediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15(1):63-8.
- 77. Timmer A, Behrens R, Buderus S, Findeisen A, Hauer A, Keller KM, et al. Childhood onset inflammatory bowel disease: predictors of delayed diagnosis from the CEDATA German-language pediatric inflammatory bowel disease registry. J Pediatr. 2011;158(3):467-73 e2.
- Heuschkel R, Salvestrini C, Beattie RM, Hildebrand H, Walters T, Griffiths A. Guidelines for the management of growth failure in childhood inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008;14(6):839-49.
- Benninga MA, Faure C, Hyman PE, St James Roberts I, Schechter NL, Nurko S. Childhood Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders: Neonate/Toddler. Gastroenterology. 2016.
- Harbord M, Annese V, Vavricka SR, Allez M, Barreiro-de Acosta M, Boberg KM, et al. The First European Evidence-based Consensus on Extra-intestinal Manifestations in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10(3):239-54.
- Hyams JS, Di Lorenzo C, Saps M, Shulman RJ, Staiano A, van Tilburg M.
 Functional Disorders: Children and Adolescents. Gastroenterology. 2016.
- Dabritz J, Gerner P, Enninger A, Classen M, Radke M. Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Childhood and Adolescence. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2017;114(19):331-8.
- Otto C, Tarnok A, Eros A, Szakacs Z, Vincze A, Farkas N, Sarlos P. Planned Transition of Adolescent Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease Results in Higher Remission Rates. J Pediatr Nurs. 2019;45:62-6.

- 84. Ward LM, Ma J, Rauch F, Benchimol EI, Hay J, Leonard MB, et al. Musculoskeletal health in newly diagnosed children with Crohn's disease. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(11):3169-77.
- 85. Szigethy E, Levy-Warren A, Whitton S, Bousvaros A, Gauvreau K, Leichtner AM, Beardslee WR. Depressive symptoms and inflammatory bowel disease in children and adolescents: a cross-sectional study. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2004;39(4):395-403.
- Kilroy S, Nolan E, Sarma KM. Quality of life and level of anxiety in youths with inflammatory bowel disease in Ireland. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2011;53(3):275-9.
- 87. Kunz JH, Greenley RN, Howard M. Maternal, paternal, and family healthrelated quality of life in the context of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Qual Life Res. 2011;20(8):1197-204.
- 88. Engelmann G, Erhard D, Petersen M, Parzer P, Schlarb AA, Resch F, et al. Health-related quality of life in adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease depends on disease activity and psychiatric comorbidity. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev. 2015;46(2):300-7.
- Reigada LC, Hoogendoorn CJ, Walsh LC, Lai J, Szigethy E, Cohen BH, et al. Anxiety symptoms and disease severity in children and adolescents with Crohn disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2015;60(1):30-5.
- 90. Brooks AJ, Rowse G, Ryder A, Peach EJ, Corfe BM, Lobo AJ. Systematic review: psychological morbidity in young people with inflammatory bowel disease risk factors and impacts. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2016;44(1):3-15.
- 91. Giannakopoulos G, Chouliaras G, Margoni D, Korlou S, Hantzara V, Panayotou I, et al. Stressful life events and psychosocial correlates of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease activity. World J Psychiatry. 2016;6(3):322-8.
- 92. Ban L, Tata LJ, Humes DJ, Fiaschi L, Card T. Decreased fertility rates in 9639 women diagnosed with inflammatory bowel disease: a United Kingdom population-based cohort study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2015;42(7):855-66.

- 93. Allocca M, Gilardi D, Fiorino G, Furfaro F, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Danese S. Sexual and reproductive issues and inflammatory bowel disease: a neglected topic in men. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;30(3):316-22.
- 94. Waschmann M, Lin HC, Stellway JE. 'Adulting' with IBD: Efficacy of a Novel Virtual Transition Workshop for Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Pediatr Nurs. 2021;60:223-9.
- 95. Gower-Rousseau C, Dauchet L, Vernier-Massouille G, Tilloy E, Brazier F, Merle V, et al. The natural history of pediatric ulcerative colitis: a population-based cohort study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104(8):2080-8.
- 96. Benchimol EI, To T, Griffiths AM, Rabeneck L, Guttmann A. Outcomes of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: socioeconomic status disparity in a universal-access healthcare system. J Pediatr. 2011;158(6):960-7 e1-4.
- 97. Singh H, Nugent Z, Targownik LE, El-Matary W, Brownell M, Bernstein CN. Health Care Use by a Population-Based Cohort of Children With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;13(7):1302-9 e3.
- 98. Park KT, Sin A, Wu M, Bass D, Bhattacharya J. Utilization trends of anti-TNF agents and health outcomes in adults and children with inflammatory bowel diseases: a single-center experience. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2014;20(7):1242-9.
- 99. Ihekweazu FD, Fofanova T, Palacios R, Ajjarapu A, Karam L, Vogel AM, et al. Progression to colectomy in the era of biologics: A single center experience with pediatric ulcerative colitis. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55(9):1815-23.
- 100. Critch J, Day AS, Otley A, King-Moore C, Teitelbaum JE, Shashidhar H, Committee NI. Use of enteral nutrition for the control of intestinal inflammation in pediatric Crohn disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2012;54(2):298-305.
- Grover Z, Muir R, Lewindon P. Exclusive enteral nutrition induces early clinical, mucosal and transmural remission in paediatric Crohn's disease. J Gastroenterol. 2014;49(4):638-45.
- 102. Grover Z, Burgess C, Muir R, Reilly C, Lewindon PJ. Early Mucosal Healing with Exclusive Enteral Nutrition is Associated with Improved Outcomes in

Newly Diagnosed Children with Luminal Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10(10):1159-64.

- 103. Forbes A, Escher J, Hebuterne X, Klek S, Krznaric Z, Schneider S, et al. ESPEN guideline: Clinical nutrition in inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Nutr. 2017;36(2):321-47.
- 104. Cohen SA, Aloi M, Arumugam R, Baker R, Bax K, Kierkus J, et al. Entericcoated budesonide for the induction and maintenance of remission of Crohn's disease in children. Curr Med Res Opin. 2017;33(7):1261-8.
- 105. Tung J, Loftus EV, Jr., Freese DK, El-Youssef M, Zinsmeister AR, Melton LJ, 3rd, et al. A population-based study of the frequency of corticosteroid resistance and dependence in pediatric patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006;12(12):1093-100.
- 106. Khan N, Abbas AM, Lichtenstein GR, Loftus EV, Jr., Bazzano LA. Risk of lymphoma in patients with ulcerative colitis treated with thiopurines: a nationwide retrospective cohort study. Gastroenterology. 2013;145(5):1007-15 e3.
- 107. Day AS, Gulati AS, Patel N, Boyle B, Park KT, Saeed SA. The Role of Combination Therapy in Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Clinical Report from the North American Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;66(2):361-8.
- 108. Kirschner BS. Safety of azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine in pediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 1998;115(4):813-21.
- 109. Lee MN, Kang B, Choi SY, Kim MJ, Woo SY, Kim JW, et al. Relationship between azathioprine dosage, 6-thioguanine nucleotide levels, and therapeutic response in pediatric patients with IBD treated with azathioprine. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015;21(5):1054-62.
- 110. Quiros JA, Heyman MB, Pohl JF, Attard TM, Pieniaszek HJ, Bortey E, et al. Safety, efficacy, and pharmacokinetics of balsalazide in pediatric patients with mild-to-moderate active ulcerative colitis: results of a randomized, double-blind study. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2009;49(5):571-9.

- 111. Zeisler B, Lerer T, Markowitz J, Mack D, Griffiths A, Bousvaros A, et al. Outcome following aminosalicylate therapy in children newly diagnosed as having ulcerative colitis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2013;56(1):12-8.
- 112. Adler J, Lin CC, Gadepalli SK, Dombkowski KJ. Association Between Steroid-Sparing Therapy and the Risk of Perianal Fistulizing Complications Among Young Patients With Crohn Disease. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(6):e207378.
- 113. Hyams J, Crandall W, Kugathasan S, Griffiths A, Olson A, Johanns J, et al. Induction and maintenance infliximab therapy for the treatment of moderate-tosevere Crohn's disease in children. Gastroenterology. 2007;132(3):863-73; quiz 1165-6.
- 114. Olen O, Askling J, Sachs MC, Frumento P, Neovius M, Smedby KE, et al. Increased Mortality of Patients With Childhood-Onset Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, Compared With the General Population. Gastroenterology. 2019;156(3):614-22.
- 115. Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Kliewer E, Wajda A. Cancer risk in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. Cancer. 2001;91(4):854-62.
- 116. Herrinton LJ, Liu L, Levin TR, Allison JE, Lewis JD, Velayos F. Incidence and mortality of colorectal adenocarcinoma in persons with inflammatory bowel disease from 1998 to 2010. Gastroenterology. 2012;143(2):382-9.
- Maddux MH, Ricks S, Bass J. Patient and Caregiver Perspectives on Transition and Transfer. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2017;56(3):278-83.
- 118. Blum RW, Garell D, Hodgman CH, Jorissen TW, Okinow NA, Orr DP, Slap GB. Transition from child-centered to adult health-care systems for adolescents with chronic conditions. A position paper of the Society for Adolescent Medicine. J Adolesc Health. 1993;14(7):570-6.
- 119. Sebastian S, Jenkins H, McCartney S, Ahmad T, Arnott I, Croft N, et al. The requirements and barriers to successful transition of adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease: differing perceptions from a survey of adult and paediatric gastroenterologists. J Crohns Colitis. 2012;6(8):830-44.

- 120. Cheak-Zamora NC, Teti M. "You think it's hard now ... It gets much harder for our children": Youth with autism and their caregiver's perspectives of health care transition services. Autism. 2015;19(8):992-1001.
- 121. Rosen DS, Blum RW, Britto M, Sawyer SM, Siegel DM, Society for Adolescent M. Transition to adult health care for adolescents and young adults with chronic conditions: position paper of the Society for Adolescent Medicine. J Adolesc Health. 2003;33(4):309-11.
- 122. Italian Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology H, Nutrition IAoHG, Endoscopists ISoEISoG, Elli L, Maieron R, Martelossi S, et al. Transition of gastroenterological patients from paediatric to adult care: A position statement by the Italian Societies of Gastroenterology. Dig Liver Dis. 2015;47(9):734-40.
- 123. Brooks AJ, Smith PJ, Cohen R, Collins P, Douds A, Forbes V, et al. UK guideline on transition of adolescent and young persons with chronic digestive diseases from paediatric to adult care. Gut. 2017;66(6):988-1000.
- 124. Shapiro JM, El-Serag HB, Gandle C, Peacock C, Denson LA, Fishman LN, et al. Recommendations for Successful Transition of Adolescents With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases to Adult Care. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;18(2):276-89 e2.
- 125. Baldassano R, Ferry G, Griffiths A, Mack D, Markowitz J, Winter H. Transition of the patient with inflammatory bowel disease from pediatric to adult care: recommendations of the North American Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2002;34(3):245-8.
- 126. van Rheenen PF, Aloi M, Biron IA, Carlsen K, Cooney R, Cucchiara S, et al. European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation Topical Review on Transitional Care in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(9):1032-8.
- 127. Tuchman LK, Slap GB, Britto MT. Transition to adult care: experiences and expectations of adolescents with a chronic illness. Child Care Health Dev. 2008;34(5):557-63.

- 128. Kipps S, Bahu T, Ong K, Ackland FM, Brown RS, Fox CT, et al. Current methods of transfer of young people with Type 1 diabetes to adult services. Diabet Med. 2002;19(8):649-54.
- 129. Nakhla M, Daneman D, To T, Paradis G, Guttmann A. Transition to adult care for youths with diabetes mellitus: findings from a Universal Health Care System. Pediatrics. 2009;124(6):e1134-41.
- Wray J, Frigiola A, Bull C, Adult Congenital Heart disease Research N. Loss to specialist follow-up in congenital heart disease; out of sight, out of mind. Heart. 2013;99(7):485-90.
- 131. Andemariam B, Owarish-Gross J, Grady J, Boruchov D, Thrall RS, Hagstrom JN. Identification of risk factors for an unsuccessful transition from pediatric to adult sickle cell disease care. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(4):697-701.
- 132. Holmes-Walker DJ, Llewellyn AC, Farrell K. A transition care programme which improves diabetes control and reduces hospital admission rates in young adults with Type 1 diabetes aged 15-25 years. Diabet Med. 2007;24(7):764-9.
- 133. Van Walleghem N, Macdonald CA, Dean HJ. Evaluation of a systems navigator model for transition from pediatric to adult care for young adults with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(8):1529-30.
- 134. Cadario F, Prodam F, Bellone S, Trada M, Binotti M, Trada M, et al. Transition process of patients with type 1 diabetes (T1DM) from paediatric to the adult health care service: a hospital-based approach. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2009;71(3):346-50.
- 135. Crowley R, Wolfe I, Lock K, McKee M. Improving the transition between paediatric and adult healthcare: a systematic review. Arch Dis Child. 2011;96(6):548-53.
- Watson AR. Non-compliance and transfer from paediatric to adult transplant unit. Pediatr Nephrol. 2000;14(6):469-72.
- 137. Annunziato RA, Emre S, Shneider B, Barton C, Dugan CA, Shemesh E. Adherence and medical outcomes in pediatric liver transplant recipients who transition to adult services. Pediatr Transplant. 2007;11(6):608-14.

- 138. Cole R, Ashok D, Razack A, Azaz A, Sebastian S. Evaluation of Outcomes in Adolescent Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients Following Transfer From Pediatric to Adult Health Care Services: Case for Transition. J Adolesc Health. 2015;57(2):212-7.
- 139. Dabadie A, Troadec F, Heresbach D, Siproudhis L, Pagenault M, Bretagne JF. Transition of patients with inflammatory bowel disease from pediatric to adult care. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2008;32(5 Pt 1):451-9.
- 140. Al-Jahdali E, Mosli M, Saadah O. A cross-sectional survey of Saudi gastroenterologists: Transition strategies for adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(4):233-7.
- Gray WN, Maddux MH. Current Transition Practices in Pediatric IBD: Findings from a National Survey of Pediatric Providers. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2016;22(2):372-9.
- 142. Eros A, Veres G, Tarnok A, Dohos D, Otto C, Szakacs Z, et al. A Cross-Sectional Survey on the Transitional Care of Adolescents with Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Hungary. J Pediatr Nurs. 2020;55:e279-e85.
- 143. Pinzon JL, Jacobson K, Reiss J. Say goodbye and say hello: the transition from pediatric to adult gastroenterology. Can J Gastroenterol. 2004;18(12):735-42.
- 144. Gray WN, Reed-Knight B, Morgan PJ, Holbrook E, Kugathasan S, Saeed SA, et al. Multi-Site Comparison of Patient, Parent, and Pediatric Provider Perspectives on Transition to Adult Care in IBD. J Pediatr Nurs. 2018;39:49-54.
- 145. Gray WN, Resmini AR, Baker KD, Holbrook E, Morgan PJ, Ryan J, et al. Concerns, Barriers, and Recommendations to Improve Transition from Pediatric to Adult IBD Care: Perspectives of Patients, Parents, and Health Professionals. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015;21(7):1641-51.
- 146. Bihari A, Hamidi N, Seow CH, Goodman KJ, Wine E, Kroeker KI. Defining Transition Success for Young Adults with Inflammatory Bowel Disease According to Patients, Parents and Health Care Providers. J Can Assoc Gastroenterol. 2022;5(4):192-8.

- 147. Fu N, Bollegala N, Jacobson K, Kroeker KI, Frost K, Afif W, et al. Canadian Consensus Statements on the Transition of Adolescents and Young Adults with Inflammatory Bowel Disease from Pediatric to Adult Care: A Collaborative Initiative Between the Canadian IBD Transition Network and Crohn's and Colitis Canada. J Can Assoc Gastroenterol. 2022;5(3):105-15.
- 148. Hait E, Arnold JH, Fishman LN. Educate, communicate, anticipate-practical recommendations for transitioning adolescents with IBD to adult health care. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006;12(1):70-3.
- 149. Huang JS, Tobin A, Tompane T. Clinicians poorly assess health literacy-related readiness for transition to adult care in adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;10(6):626-32.
- 150. de Silva PS, Fishman LN. Transition of the patient with IBD from pediatric to adult care-an assessment of current evidence. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2014;20(8):1458-64.
- 151. While A, Forbes A, Ullman R, Lewis S, Mathes L, Griffiths P. Good practices that address continuity during transition from child to adult care: synthesis of the evidence. Child Care Health Dev. 2004;30(5):439-52.
- 152. McDonagh JE, Southwood TR, Shaw KL, British Society of P, Adolescent R. The impact of a coordinated transitional care programme on adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(1):161-8.
- 153. Fishman LN, Barendse RM, Hait E, Burdick C, Arnold J. Self-management of older adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease: a pilot study of behavior and knowledge as prelude to transition. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2010;49(12):1129-33.
- Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev. 1977;84(2):191-215.
- 155. Stollon N, Zhong Y, Ferris M, Bhansali S, Pitts B, Rak E, et al. Chronological age when healthcare transition skills are mastered in adolescents/young adults with inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(18):3349-55.

- 156. Keefer L, Kiebles JL, Taft TH. The role of self-efficacy in inflammatory bowel disease management: preliminary validation of a disease-specific measure. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011;17(2):614-20.
- Izaguirre MR, Keefer L. Development of a self-efficacy scale for adolescents and young adults with inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2014;59(1):29-32.
- 158. Moradkhani A, Kerwin L, Dudley-Brown S, Tabibian JH. Disease-specific knowledge, coping, and adherence in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis Sci. 2011;56(10):2972-7.
- 159. Gray WN, Wagoner ST, Schaefer MR, Reed B, Morgan P, Holbrook E, et al. Transition to Adult IBD Care: A Pilot Multi-Site, Telehealth Hybrid Intervention. J Pediatr Psychol. 2021;46(1):1-11.
- 160. McCartney S, Lindsay JO, Russell RK, Gaya DR, Shaw I, Murray CD, et al. Benefits of Structured Pediatric to Adult Transition in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: The TRANSIT Observational Study. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2022;74(2):208-14.
- 161. Whitfield EP, Fredericks EM, Eder SJ, Shpeen BH, Adler J. Transition readiness in pediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease: patient survey of selfmanagement skills. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2015;60(1):36-41.
- 162. Kim J, Ye BD. Successful Transition from Pediatric to Adult Care in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: What is the Key? Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr. 2019;22(1):28-40.
- 163. Philpott JR, Kurowski JA. Challenges in Transitional Care in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Review of the Current Literature in Transition Readiness and Outcomes. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2019;25(1):45-55.
- 164. Bensen R, McKenzie RB, Fernandes SM, Fishman LN. Transitions in Pediatric Gastroenterology: Results of a National Provider Survey. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2016;63(5):488-93.
- 165. Gray WN, Holbrook E, Morgan PJ, Saeed SA, Denson LA, Hommel KA. Transition readiness skills acquisition in adolescents and young adults with

inflammatory bowel disease: findings from integrating assessment into clinical practice. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015;21(5):1125-31.

- 166. Zijlstra M, De Bie C, Breij L, van Pieterson M, van Staa A, de Ridder L, et al. Self-efficacy in adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease: a pilot study of the "IBD-yourself", a disease-specific questionnaire. J Crohns Colitis. 2013;7(9):e375-85.
- 167. Eaden JA, Abrams K, Mayberry JF. The Crohn's and Colitis Knowledge Score: a test for measuring patient knowledge in inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94(12):3560-6.
- 168. Wardle RA, Mayberry JF. Patient knowledge in inflammatory bowel disease: the Crohn's and Colitis Knowledge Score. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;26(1):1-5.
- 169. Hait EJ, Barendse RM, Arnold JH, Valim C, Sands BE, Korzenik JR, Fishman LN. Transition of adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease from pediatric to adult care: a survey of adult gastroenterologists. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2009;48(1):61-5.
- 170. Webb N, Harden P, Lewis C, Tizzard S, Walsh G, Wray J, Watson A. Building consensus on transition of transplant patients from paediatric to adult healthcare. Arch Dis Child. 2010;95(8):606-11.
- Okumura MJ, Kleinhenz ME. Cystic Fibrosis Transitions of Care: Lessons Learned and Future Directions for Cystic Fibrosis. Clin Chest Med. 2016;37(1):119-26.
- 172. Strohl M, Zhang X, Levesque D, Bessissow T. Transition care in inflammatory bowel disease: A needs assessment survey of Quebec gastroenterologists and allied nurses. World J Gastrointest Pharmacol Ther. 2017;8(3):186-92.
- 173. Goodhand J, Hedin CR, Croft NM, Lindsay JO. Adolescents with IBD: the importance of structured transition care. J Crohns Colitis. 2011;5(6):509-19.
- 174. Adamiak T, Walkiewicz-Jedrzejczak D, Fish D, Brown C, Tung J, Khan K, et al. Incidence, clinical characteristics, and natural history of pediatric IBD in

Wisconsin: a population-based epidemiological study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2013;19(6):1218-23.

- 175. McDonagh JE. Growing up and moving on: transition from pediatric to adult care. Pediatr Transplant. 2005;9(3):364-72.
- 176. Wright EK, Williams J, Andrews JM, Day AS, Gearry RB, Bampton P, et al. Perspectives of paediatric and adult gastroenterologists on transfer and transition care of adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease. Intern Med J. 2014;44(5):490-6.
- 177. Menon T, Afzali A. Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Practical Path to Transitioning From Pediatric to Adult Care. Am J Gastroenterol. 2019;114(9):1432-40.
- 178. Bollegala N, Benchimol EI, Griffiths AM, Kovacs A, Steinhart AH, Zhao X, Nguyen GC. Characterizing the Posttransfer Period Among Patients with Pediatric Onset IBD: The Impact of Academic Versus Community Adult Care on Emergent Health Resource Utilization. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2017;23(9):1483-91.
- 179. Fu N, Jacobson K, Round A, Evans K, Qian H, Bressler B. Transition clinic attendance is associated with improved beliefs and attitudes toward medicine in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(29):5405-11.
- 180. Rosen D, Annunziato R, Colombel JF, Dubinsky M, Benkov K. Transition of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Care: Assessment of Transition Readiness Factors and Disease Outcomes in a Young Adult Population. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2016;22(3):702-8.
- 181. Testa A, Giannetti E, Rispo A, Rea M, Miele E, Scarpato E, et al. Successful outcome of the transitional process of inflammatory bowel disease from pediatric to adult age: A five years experience. Dig Liver Dis. 2019;51(4):524-8.
- 182. Tierney S, Deaton C, Jones A, Oxley H, Biesty J, Kirk S. Liminality and transfer to adult services: a qualitative investigation involving young people with cystic fibrosis. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(6):738-46.

- 183. Fishman LN, Ziniel SI, Adrichem ME, Fernandes SM, Arnold J. Provider awareness alone does not improve transition readiness skills in adolescent patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2014;59(2):221-4.
- 184. Gumidyala AP, Plevinsky JM, Poulopoulos N, Kahn SA, Walkiewicz D, Greenley RN. What Teens Do Not Know Can Hurt Them: An Assessment of Disease Knowledge in Adolescents and Young Adults with IBD. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2017;23(1):89-96.
- 185. Klostermann NR, McAlpine L, Wine E, Goodman KJ, Kroeker KI. Assessing the Transition Intervention Needs of Young Adults With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;66(2):281-5.
- 186. van der Zaag-Loonen HJ, Grootenhuis MA, Last BF, Derkx HH. Coping strategies and quality of life of adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease. Qual Life Res. 2004;13(5):1011-9.
- 187. Bitton A, Dobkin PL, Edwardes MD, Sewitch MJ, Meddings JB, Rawal S, et al. Predicting relapse in Crohn's disease: a biopsychosocial model. Gut. 2008;57(10):1386-92.
- 188. Fernandes SM, O'Sullivan-Oliveira J, Landzberg MJ, Khairy P, Melvin P, Sawicki GS, et al. Transition and transfer of adolescents and young adults with pediatric onset chronic disease: the patient and parent perspective. J Pediatr Rehabil Med. 2014;7(1):43-51.
- Escher JC. Transition from pediatric to adult health care in inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis. 2009;27(3):382-6.
- Bollegala N, Nguyen GC. Transitioning the Adolescent with IBD from Pediatric to Adult Care: A Review of the Literature. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2015;2015:853530.
- 191. Turner D, Ruemmele FM, Orlanski-Meyer E, Griffiths AM, de Carpi JM, Bronsky J, et al. Management of Paediatric Ulcerative Colitis, Part 1: Ambulatory Care-An Evidence-based Guideline From European Crohn's and

Colitis Organization and European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;67(2):257-91.

- Moon JS. Clinical Aspects and Treatments for Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr. 2019;22(1):50-6.
- 193. Turner D, Otley AR, Mack D, Hyams J, de Bruijne J, Uusoue K, et al. Development, validation, and evaluation of a pediatric ulcerative colitis activity index: a prospective multicenter study. Gastroenterology. 2007;133(2):423-32.
- 194. Travis SP, Schnell D, Krzeski P, Abreu MT, Altman DG, Colombel JF, et al. Reliability and initial validation of the ulcerative colitis endoscopic index of severity. Gastroenterology. 2013;145(5):987-95.
- 195. Varty M, Speller-Brown B, Phillips L, Kelly KP. Youths' Experiences of Transition from Pediatric to Adult Care: An Updated Qualitative Metasynthesis. J Pediatr Nurs. 2020;55:201-10.
- 196. Nardone OM, Iacucci M, Ghosh S, Castiglione F. Can a transition clinic bridge the gap between paediatric and adult inflammatory bowel disease care models? Dig Liver Dis. 2020;52(5):516-27.
- 197. Paine CW, Stollon NB, Lucas MS, Brumley LD, Poole ES, Peyton T, et al. Barriers and facilitators to successful transition from pediatric to adult inflammatory bowel disease care from the perspectives of providers. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2014;20(11):2083-91.
- 198. Uijen AA, Heinst CW, Schellevis FG, van den Bosch WJ, van de Laar FA, Terwee CB, Schers HJ. Measurement properties of questionnaires measuring continuity of care: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e42256.
- 199. Garvey KC, Wolpert HA, Rhodes ET, Laffel LM, Kleinman K, Beste MG, et al. Health care transition in patients with type 1 diabetes: young adult experiences and relationship to glycemic control. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(8):1716-22.
- 200. Yerushalmy-Feler A, Ron Y, Barnea E, Nachum A, Matalon S, Dali-Levy M, et al. Adolescent transition clinic in inflammatory bowel disease: quantitative assessment of self-efficacy skills. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;29(7):831-7.

- 201. Maddux MH, Drovetta M, Hasenkamp R, Carpenter E, McCullough J, Goyal A, Bass J. Using a Mixed-method Approach to Develop a Transition Program for Young Adults With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2020;70(2):195-9.
- 202. Connor KM, Davidson JR. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Depress Anxiety. 2003;18(2):76-82.
- 203. Carlsen K, Haddad N, Gordon J, Phan BL, Pittman N, Benkov K, et al. Selfefficacy and Resilience Are Useful Predictors of Transition Readiness Scores in Adolescents with Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2017;23(3):341-6.
- 204. McManus MA, Pollack LR, Cooley WC, McAllister JW, Lotstein D, Strickland B, Mann MY. Current status of transition preparation among youth with special needs in the United States. Pediatrics. 2013;131(6):1090-7.
- 205. van den Brink G, van Gaalen MAC, Zijlstra M, de Ridder L, van der Woude CJ, Escher JC. Self-efficacy did not predict the outcome of the transition to adult care in adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease. Acta Paediatr. 2019;108(2):333-8.
- 206. Reid GJ, Irvine MJ, McCrindle BW, Sananes R, Ritvo PG, Siu SC, Webb GD. Prevalence and correlates of successful transfer from pediatric to adult health care among a cohort of young adults with complex congenital heart defects. Pediatrics. 2004;113(3 Pt 1):e197-205.
- 207. Gurvitz MZ, Inkelas M, Lee M, Stout K, Escarce J, Chang RK. Changes in hospitalization patterns among patients with congenital heart disease during the transition from adolescence to adulthood. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49(8):875-82.
- 208. Dugueperoux I, Tamalet A, Sermet-Gaudelus I, Le Bourgeois M, Gerardin M, Desmazes-Dufeu N, Hubert D. Clinical changes of patients with cystic fibrosis during transition from pediatric to adult care. J Adolesc Health. 2008;43(5):459-65.

- 209. El-Matary W. Transition of children with inflammatory bowel disease: big task, little evidence. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(30):3744-7.
- Brousseau DC, Owens PL, Mosso AL, Panepinto JA, Steiner CA. Acute care utilization and rehospitalizations for sickle cell disease. JAMA. 2010;303(13):1288-94.
- Philpott JR. Transitional care in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y). 2011;7(1):26-32.
- 212. Sattoe JNT, Peeters MAC, Haitsma J, van Staa A, Wolters VM, Escher JC. Value of an outpatient transition clinic for young people with inflammatory bowel disease: a mixed-methods evaluation. BMJ Open. 2020;10(1):e033535.
- 213. van den Brink G, van Gaalen MAC, de Ridder L, van der Woude CJ, Escher JC. Health Care Transition Outcomes in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Multinational Delphi Study. J Crohns Colitis. 2019;13(9):1163-72.
- 214. Mackner LM, Crandall WV. Oral medication adherence in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2005;11(11):1006-12.
- 215. Hommel KA, Davis CM, Baldassano RN. Medication adherence and quality of life in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Psychol. 2008;33(8):867-74.
- Hommel KA, Davis CM, Baldassano RN. Objective versus subjective assessment of oral medication adherence in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15(4):589-93.
- 217. Kane S, Huo D, Aikens J, Hanauer S. Medication nonadherence and the outcomes of patients with quiescent ulcerative colitis. Am J Med. 2003;114(1):39-43.
- 218. Higgins PD, Rubin DT, Kaulback K, Schoenfield PS, Kane SV. Systematic review: impact of non-adherence to 5-aminosalicylic acid products on the frequency and cost of ulcerative colitis flares. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;29(3):247-57.
- 219. Bollegala N, Brill H, Marshall JK. Resource utilization during pediatric to adult transfer of care in IBD. J Crohns Colitis. 2013;7(2):e55-60.

- 220. Goodhand J, Dawson R, Hefferon M, Tshuma N, Swanson G, Wahed M, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease in young people: the case for transitional clinics. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2010;16(6):947-52.
- 221. Levine A, de Bie CI, Turner D, Cucchiara S, Sladek M, Murphy MS, et al. Atypical disease phenotypes in pediatric ulcerative colitis: 5-year analyses of the EUROKIDS Registry. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2013;19(2):370-7.
- 222. Sanderson IR. Growth problems in children with IBD. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;11(10):601-10.
- 223. Fumery M, Duricova D, Gower-Rousseau C, Annese V, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Lakatos PL. Review article: the natural history of paediatric-onset ulcerative colitis in population-based studies. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2016;43(3):346-55.
- 224. Spekhorst LM, Hummel TZ, Benninga MA, van Rheenen PF, Kindermann A. Adherence to Oral Maintenance Treatment in Adolescents With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2016;62(2):264-70.

9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

9.1. Publications related to the thesis

A gyermekkori kezdetű gyulladásos bélbetegség sajátosságai 20 éves vizsgálatunk alapján Tóbi Luca, Cseh Áron *Orvosi Hetilap* <u>Doi:</u> 10.1556/650.2025.33249 <u>Impact factor:</u> 0.8 <u>Date:</u> accepted for publication: 26.01.2025

Transition is associated with lower disease activity, fewer relapses, better medication adherence, and lower lost-to-follow-up rate as opposed to self-transfer in pediatric-onset inflammatory bowel disease patients: results of a longitudinal, follow-up, controlled observational study

Tóbi Luca, Prehoda Bence, Balogh Anna M, et al. *Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology* <u>Impact factor:</u> 3.9 Date: 31.04.24

A gyulladásos bélbetegség korszerű kezelése gyermekkorban: fókuszban a diéta és a biológiai terápia

Cseh Áron, Prehoda Bence, **Tóbi Luca**, et al. *Orvosi Hetilap*, CLXIV., 25./2023, 963-970. <u>Doi:</u> 10.1556/650.2023.32819. <u>Impact factor:</u> 0.8 <u>Date:</u> 06.2023

A gasztroenterológiai betegek tranzíciója a felnőttgondozásba

Tóbi Luca, Cseh Áron

Orvostovábbképző szemle, XXIX. 8/2022. Date: 09.2022

A COVID-19 fertőzés gastrointestinalis hatásai gyermekkorban és a gyulladásos bélbeteg gyermekekben

Tóbi Luca, Prehoda Bence, Balogh Anna, Dezsőfi-Gottl Antal, Cseh Áron Orvosi Hetilap, CLXIII., 6./2022; 214-221. Doi: 10.1556/650.2022.32443. Impact factor: 0.8 Date: 02.2022

Újabb ismeretek a gyulladásos bélbetegségről

Cseh Áron, **Tóbi Luca**, Arató András *Gyermekorvos Továbbképzés*, IX., 1./2021, 2-5. Date: 02.2021

9.2. Publications not related to the thesis

A comparative in vivo study of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with cisplatin versus doxorubicin versus cisplatin plus doxorubicin for the treatment of intra-abdominally disseminated alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma in mice Martynov Illya, Gesche Jens, Dhaka Lajwanti, Tobi Luca, Hoyer Paul, Seitz Guido *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 71(12), e31366. Doi: 10.1002/pbc.31366 Impact factor: 3.8 Date: 12.2024

Féregfertőzések gyermekkorban - A leggyakrabban felmerülő kérdések és tévhitek

Tóbi Luca

Gyermekorvos Továbbképzés, XX., 3./2021; 80-85.

Date: 07.2021

<u>10. Acknowledgments</u>

I would like to acknowledge Prof. Gábor Veres (†2020) for the initiation of the early transitional program and research in our Clinic. Furthermore, the whole Gastroenterological Unit of the Pediatric Center, to make the transitioning and mentor program possible, and last but not least my tutor, Dr. Áron Cseh for his support through the past years.